

# **UNIVERSITI PUTRA MALAYSIA**

MEDIATORS OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SPIRITUAL INTELLIGENCE AND SOCIAL SUPPORT ON HEALTH BEHAVIOURS OF UNDERGRADUATES IN A PUBLIC UNIVERSITY IN MALAYSIA

**ROXANA DEV OMAR DEV** 

FPP 2018 27



## MEDIATORS OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SPIRITUAL INTELLIGENCE AND SOCIAL SUPPORT ON HEALTH BEHAVIOURS OF UNDERGRADUATES IN A PUBLIC UNIVERSITY IN MALAYSIA

By

**ROXANA DEV OMAR DEV** 

Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

April 2018



### COPYRIGHT

All material contained within the thesis, including without limitation text, logos, icons, photographs and all other artwork, is copyright material of Universiti Putra Malaysia unless otherwise stated. Use may be made of any material contained within the thesis for non-commercial purposes from the copyright holder. Commercial use of material may only be made with the express, prior, written permission of Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Copyright © Universiti Putra Malaysia



#### **DEDICATION**

This work is dedicated to my beloved husband, Wan Suhaimi Wan Abdullah and my precious five kids, Wan Haziq Solihin, Wan Irfan Solihin, Wan Umaira Soliha, Wan Adriana Soliha and Wan Aqil Solihin, for their enduring love, support, sacrifice and understanding in this hard long journey.

Special dedication also to my parents, Dr Siti Rehani Che Hussain and Ahmad Mohsain Rifaie (Ayah Mohsain) for their true love, overwhelming support and enormous sacrifice even though I did not spend much time with them in order to finish this research.



Abstract of Thesis Presented to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia, in Fulfilment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

#### MEDIATORS OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SPIRITUAL INTELLIGENCE AND SOCIAL SUPPORT ON HEALTH BEHAVIOURS OF UNDERGRADUATES IN A PUBLIC UNIVERSITY IN MALAYSIA

By



The main purpose of the present study is to develop a health behaviour model by investigating the relationship of two psycho-social variables, spiritual intelligence and social support on selected mediators, emotional intelligence and self-efficacy towards health behaviour among undergraduates of Universiti Putra Malaysia. The investigated model is based on the Theory of Triadic Influence by Fly & Petraitis (1994). EI was seen as distal variable but in this study it is hypothesized as a distal-proximal variable.

The study used a correlational research design. There were five instruments used for the study which were Health Behaviour Questionnaire (adapted from Bobroff, 2015), General Self-Efficacy Scale (Schwarzer & Jerusalem, 1993), Spiritual Intelligence Self-Report Inventory (King, 2008), Assessing Emotions Scale (Schutte, Malouff & Bhullar, 2009) and Interpersonal Support Evaluation List-College Version (Cohen, Mermelstein, Karmarck & Hoberman, 1985) which content validity were checked by a panel of experts. A pilot study was conducted on 50 UPM students to assess the reliability of the instruments. The value of Cronbach's alpha was from .79 to .92. For the real data, proportionate stratified sampling technique was used with a sample size of 400 undergraduates who stayed in the dormitory at Universiti Putra Malaysia. The final coefficient ranges from .86 to .91. For data analysis, descriptive statistics (SPSS 21) and Structural Equation Modeling (AMOS 21) were used.

The structural model of the study with 9 paths was tested and found fitting as per set criteria. Out of the 9 paths in the model, seven paths showed significant effects in the relationships explained by the model, while two paths did not. The paths that reflected significant relationship were as follows: 1) spiritual intelligence with health behaviour ( $\beta$ =.335, p<.001); 2) spiritual intelligence with emotional intelligence ( $\beta$ =.635, p<.001); 3) spiritual intelligence with self-efficacy ( $\beta$ =.285, p<.001); 4) social support with health

behaviour ( $\beta$ =.128, p<.05); 5) social support with emotional intelligence ( $\beta$ =.098, p<.05); 6) emotional intelligence with self-efficacy ( $\beta$ =.225, p<.05); 7) self-efficacy with health behaviour ( $\beta$ =.300, p<.001). On the other hand, the paths that were not significantly related were relationship between social support and self-efficacy ( $\beta$ =.032, p>.05) and relationship between emotional intelligence and health behaviour ( $\beta$ =.107, p>.05).

The results of the mediation tests indicated that self-efficacy partially mediated the relationship between spiritual intelligence and health behaviour. However, self-efficacy did not mediate the relationship of social and emotional intelligence on health behaviour. Besides that, emotional intelligence were seen to partially mediate the relationship between spiritual intelligence and self-efficacy Overall, the revised structural model of the study with 7 paths explained 40.7 % of emotional intelligence, 21.2 % of self-efficacy and 30.0% of health behaviour.

This study has provided some new thoughts and insights on measuring self-efficacy based on students' perceptions. Many researchers have identified self-efficacy as the most important predictor for health behaviour (Mathumardhi & Suparna, 2016; Jamshidi et al., 2018), however, high self-efficacy will be meaningless if there is no authentic way in addressing intrinsic aspects of life in terms of spirituality (Mathumardi & Suparna). Spiritual intelligence and self-efficacy hand in hand help university students to become useful members of the society, as in case individuals who care about promotive health behaviours. Hence more research should be done to validate this finding. Probable journey should incorporate a sequential exploratory design.

Abstrak tesis yang dikemukakan kepada Senat Universiti Putra Malaysia sebagai memenuhi keperluan untuk ijazah Doktor Falsafah

#### PENGANTARA BAGI HUBUNGAN ANTARA KECERDASAN KEROHANIAN DAN SOKONGAN SOSIAL TERHADAP TINGKAH LAKU KESIHATAN DALAM KALANGAN PELAJAR PRA-SISWAZAH DI SEBUAH UNIVERSITI AWAM DI MALAYSIA

Oleh

#### **ROXANA DEV OMAR DEV**

April 2018

Pengerusi : Prof. Madya Tengku Fadilah Tengku Kamalden, PhD Fakulti : Pengajian Pendidikan

Tujuan utama kajian ini adalah untuk membangunkan satu model tingkah laku kesihatan dengan mengenal pasti perhubungan dua pembolehubah psiko-sosial iaitu kecerdasan kerohanian dan sokongan sosial kepada pengantara, kecerdasan emosi dan efikasi diri

terhadap tingkah laku kesihatan di kalangan pelajar pra-siswazah Universiti Putra Malaysia. Model yang disiasat berdasarkan Teori Pengaruh Triad (Fly & Petraitis (1994). Kecerdasan emosi dilihat sebagai pemboleh ubah distal tetapi dalam kajian ini ia dihipotesis sebagai pemboleh ubah distal-proksimal.

Kajian korelasi ini menggunakan lima instrumen iaitu Health Behaviour Questionnaire (adaptasi daripada Bobroff, 2015), General Self-Efficacy Scale (Schwarzer & Jerusalem, 1993), Spiritual Intelligence Self-Report Inventory (King, 2008), Assessing Emotions Scale (Schutte, Malouff & Bhullar, 2009) dan Interpersonal Support Evaluation List-College Version (Cohen, Mermelstein, Karmarck & Hoberman, 1985). Keesahan kandungan telah diperiksa oleh panel pakar. Satu kajian perintis dijalankan ke atas 50 orang pelajar UPM untuk menilai kebolehpercayaan instrumen tersebut. Nilai alpha Cronbach adalah dari .79 hingga .92. Bagi data sebenar, teknik pensampelan berstrata nisbah telah digunakan dengan saiz sampel 400 pelajar yang tinggal di asrama di Universiti Putra Malaysia. Pekali kajian sebenar adalah dari .86 hingga .91. Untuk analisis data, statistik deskriptif (SPSS 21) dan Pemodelan Persamaan Struktur (AMOS 21) telah digunakan.

Model struktur kajian dengan 9 laluan diuji dan didapati sesuai mengikut kriteria yang telah ditetapkan. Daripada 9 laluan dalam model, tujuh laluan menunjukkan kesan yang signifikan dalam hubungan yang dijelaskan oleh model, sementara dua laluan tidak. Laluan yang memberikan hasil yang signifikan adalah seperti berikut: 1) kecerdasan

kerohanian dengan tingkah laku kesihatan ( $\beta = .335$ , p <.001); 2) kecerdasan kerohanian dengan kecerdasan emosi ( $\beta = .635$ , p <.001); 3) kecerdasan kerohanian dengan efikasi diri ( $\beta = .285$ , p <.001); 4) sokongan sosial dengan tingkah laku kesihatan ( $\beta = .128$ , p <.05); 5) sokongan sosial dengan kecerdasan emosi ( $\beta = .098$ , p <.05); 6) kecerdasan emosi dengan efikasi diri ( $\beta = .225$ , p <.05); 7) efikasi diri dengan tingkah laku kesihatan ( $\beta = .300$ , p <.001). Sebaliknya, laluan yang tiada hubungan signifikan adalah hubungan antara sokongan sosial dan efikasi diri ( $\beta = .032$ , p > .05) dan hubungan antara kecerdasan emosi dan tingkah laku kesihatan ( $\beta = .107$ , p>). 05).

Keputusan ujian pengantaraan (mediator) menunjukkan bahawa efikasi diri memberi sebahagian pengantaraan antara hubungan kecerdasan kerohanian dan tingkah laku kesihatan. Walau bagaimanapun, efikasi diri tidak memberi sebarang pengaruh pengantaraan antara sokongan sosial dan kecerdasan kerohanian terhadap tingkah laku kesihatan. Selain itu, kecerdasan emosi dilihat memberi sebahagian kesan perantaraan antara kecerdasan rohani terhadap efikasi diri. Secara keseluruhannya, model struktur kajian dengan 7 laluan menjelaskan 40.7% kecerdasan emosi, 21.2% efikasi diri dan 30.0% tingkah laku kesihatan.

Kajian ini telah memberi pencerahan baru tentang pengukuran efikasi diri melalui persepsi pelajar. Beberapa penyelidik telah mengenalpasti efikasi diri sebagai faktor penting dalam membuat ramalan tentang tingkah laku kesihatan (Mathumardhi & Suparna, 2016; Jamshidi et al., 2018) tetapi ianya tidak bermakna jika terdapat kekurangan dalam nilai kerohanian ((Mathumardhi & Suparna, 2016). Gabungan kecerdasan kerohanian dan efikasi diri menghasilkan pelajar yang berguna dalam masyarakat dan mengambil berat tentang amalan kesihatan. Justeru penyelidikan lanjutan perlu di teruskan untuk mengesahkan keputusan ini. Bagi melengkapkan lagi pengetahuan dalam bidang ini, perubahan paradigma rekabentuk penyelidikan disarankan dengan menggunakan rekabentuk eksplorasi berurutan (sekuential).

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

#### Bismillahirrahmanirrahim

First of all, I would like to thank Allah the Almighty for giving me the blessing as well as strength and perseverance to actually finish my thesis writing and finalize my road to having a PhD. It would also not be possible without the help of so many great individuals that have support my journey thus far.

I would like to sincerely thank my Dissertation Chair Associate Prof. Dr. Tengku Fadilah Tengku Kamalden for her scholarly advice and endless help to complete my dissertation. I would also like to extend my thanks to my dissertation committee members, Associate Prof. Dr. Soh Kim Geok and Dr. Maria Chong Abdullah for their constructive comments and valuable feedbacks throughout the journey. I am also grateful to Dr. Siti Rehani Che Hussain (my mother) and Associate Prof. Dr. Ahmad Fauzi Mohd Ayub for their support in reading the final draft of my work. Their precious comments enormously helped me to improve the quality of my dissertation. Had it not been for the above mentioned great individuals, I would not have been able to complete this study. Thank you again: Associate Prof. Dr. Tengku Fadilah Tengku Kamalden, Associate Prof. Dr. Soh Kim Geok, Dr. Maria Chong Abdullah, Dr. Siti Rehani Che Hussain and Associate Prof. Dr. Ahmad Fauzi Mohd Ayub.

I would like to thank Dr. Kok Lian Yee, Dr. Borhannudin Abdullah, Dr. Nor Aniza Ahmad, and Dr. Asmah Ismail for taking their precious time to examine the content validity of my questionnaire. Many thanks as well for Dr. Abu Bakar Mohamed Razali and Dr. Rozita Radhiah Said for their accurate back to back translation of my questionnaire. My heartfelt thanks also to Prof. Dr. Andrew Lane, Prof. Dr. Jane Wardle and Associate Prof. Dr. Ismi Arif Ismail who took time to assist on the questionnaire and proposal during the early stage of my dissertation.

Many thanks also to Prof. Dr. Bahaman Abu Samah and Mr. Amir Rifaat for their help in the data analysis process. Their advice and guide have given me light to my dissertation. Last but not least, I am particularly grateful to my family: my dear parents, Dr. Siti Rehani Che Hussain and Ahmad Mohsain Rifaie (Ayah Mohsain) for their endless support and prayers; my beloved husband, Wan Suhaimi Wan Abdullah for his love, support and understanding; my precious kids, Wan Haziq Solihin, Wan Irfan Solihin, Wan Umaira Soliha, Wan Adriana Soliha and Wan Aqil Solihin for their love, support and care. Without their continuous support, I would not have been where I am today. Thank you. I certify that a Thesis Examination Committee has met on the 26 April 2018 to conduct the final examination of Roxana Dev Omar Dev on her thesis entitled "Mediators of the relationship between spiritual intelligence and social support on health behaviours of undergraduates in Universiti Putra Malaysia" in accordance with the Universities and University Colleges Act 1971 and the Constitution of the Universiti Putra Malaysia [P.U(A) 106] 15 March 1998. The Committee recommends that the student be awarded the Doctor of Philosophy.

Members of the Thesis Examination Committee were as follows:

Dr. Kok Lian Yee Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

Prof. Dr. Aminuddin Yusof Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Internal Examiner)

Prof. Dr. Shaharudin Abd Aziz Faculty of Sports Science and Coaching Universiti Perguruan Sultan Idris (External examiner)

Prof. Dr. David Pevalin University of Essex (External examiner) This thesis was submitted to the Senate of Universiti Putra Malaysia and has been accepted as fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy. The members of the Supervisory Committee were as follows:

## Tengku Fadilah Tengku Kamalden, PhD Associate Professor

Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Chairman)

#### Soh Kim Geok, PhD

Associate Professor Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

#### Maria Chong Abdullah, PhD

Senior Lectrer Faculty of Educational Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia (Member)

### **ROBIAH BINTI YUNUS, PhD** Professor and Dean School of Graduate Studies Universiti Putra Malaysia

Date:

#### Declaration by graduate student

I hereby confirm that:

- this thesis is my original work;
- quotations, illustration and citations have been fully referenced;
- this thesis has not been submitted previously or concurrently for any other degree at any other institutions;
- intellectual property from the thesis and copyright of thesis are fully-owned by Universiti Putra Malaysia, as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012
- written permission must be obtained from supervisor and the office of Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Research and Innovation) before thesis is published ( in the form of written, printed or in electronic form) including books, journals, modules, proceedings, popular writings, seminar papers, manuscripts, posters, reports, lecture notes, learning modules or any other materials as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012;
- there is no plagiarism or data falsification/fabrication in the thesis, and scholarly integrity is upheld as according to the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) and the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Research) Rules 2012. The thesis has undergone plagiarism detection software.

Signature:	Date:
0	

Name and Matric No. : Roxana Dev Omar Dev (GS24838)

## **Declaration by Members of Supervisory Committee**

This is to confirm that:

- the researcher conducted and the writing of this thesis was under my supervision;
- supervision responsibilities as stated in the Universiti Putra Malaysia (Graduate Studies) Rules 2003 (Revision 2012-2013) are adhered to.

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Page i iii v vi viii xiii xiv XV

ABSTRACT	
ABSTRAK	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
APPROVAL	
DECLARATION	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	

## CHAPTER

1	INTR	ODUCTION	1
	1.1	Introduction	1
	1.2	Background of Study	2
		1.2.1 Emotional Intelligence (EI) as a Factor	4
		1.2.2 Spiritual Intelligence (SI) as a Factor	4
		1.2.3 Social Support (SS) as a Factor	5
		1.2.4 Self-efficacy (SE) as a Factor	5
		1.2.5 Conclusion	5
	1.3	Problem Statement	5
	1.4	Objectives of the Study	7
	1.5	Hypotheses	7
	1.6	Significance of the Study	8
		1.6.1 Contribution to theory	8
		1.6.2 Contribution to Policies and Practices	9
	1.7	Scope of the Study	10
	1.8	Limitations in the Study	10
	1.9	Definition of Terms	11
		1.9.1 Health behaviour	11
		1.9.2 Emotional Intelligence (EI)	11
		1.9.3 Spiritual Intelligence (SI)	12
		1.9.4 Social support (SS)	12
		1.9.5 Self-efficacy (SE)	12
	1.10	Summary	13
2	IITE		1.4
2		Introduction	14
	2.1	Health Pahaviour	14
	2.2	2.2.1 Concept and Definition of Health Rehaviour	14
		2.2.1 Concept and Definition of Health Behaviour	14
		2.2.2 Inforty of freatili Denaviour	13
	22	Salf Efficacy	17
	2.3	2.3.1 Concept and Definition of Self Efficiency	1/
		2.3.1 Self-Efficacy in Health Behaviour Theory	10
		2.3.2 Instrument on Self-Efficacy	20
	24	Emotional Intelligence (FI)	20
	2.T		20

х

		2.4.1 Concept of Emotional Intelligence (EI)	20
		2.4.2 Emotional Intelligence Theory	21
		2.4.3 Instrument on Emotional Intelligence	22
	2.5	Spiritual Intelligence	23
		2.5.1 Concept of Spiritual Intelligence	23
		2.5.2 Spiritual Intelligence Theory	24
		2.5.3 Instrument on Spiritual Intelligence	25
	2.6	Social Support	25
	210	2.6.1 Concept of Social Support	26
		2.6.2 Social Support Theory	26
		2.6.2 Instrument on Social Support	27
	27	Relationship between Self-Efficacy and Health Behaviour	27
	2.7	Relationship between Emotional Intelligence and	20
	2.0	Health Bahaviour	29
	2.0	Palationship between Spiritual Intelligence and	21
	2.9	Health Behaviour	51
	2 10	Relationship between Social Support and Health Rehaviour	22
	2.10	Relationship between Social Support and Health Behaviour	25
	2.11	Relationship between Emotional Intelligence and Self-Efficacy	22
	2.12	Relationship between Spiritual Intelligence and Self-Efficacy	2/
	2.13	The section of the se	20
	2.14	Considered Framework of the Study	39
	2.15	Conceptual Framework of the Study	40
3	METH	ODOLOGY	41
	3.1	Introduction	41
	3.2	Research design	41
		3.2.1 Conceptual Framework of Proposed Study	42
	3.3	Population and sample size	43
	3.4	Sampling technique	45
	3.5	Instrumentation of the Study	47
		3.5.1 Demographic information	47
		3.5.2 Health Behaviour Questionnaire	48
		3.5.3 General Self Efficacy Scale (GSES)	49
		3.5.4 Assessing Emotions Scale (AES)	49
		3.5.5 The Spiritual Intelligence Self-Report	50
		Inventory (SISRI-24)	
		3.5.6 Interpersonal Support Evaluation List (ISEL)-48 college	51
		version	
	3.6	Validity	51
		3.6.1 Face validity	52
		3.6.2 Content validity	52
		3.6.3 Construct validity (Confirmatory Factor Analysis)	52
		3.6.4 Convergent validity	58
	3.7	Reliability	58
	3.8	Pilot Study and Data Collection	59
	3.9	Data Analysis	61
	3.10	Assessing Measurement Model	61
		3.10.1 Discriminant Validity	62
		3.10.2 Normality	63
		3.10.3 Outliers	63

6

	3.11	Mediation	66
4	RESU	LTS OF FINDINGS	69
	4.1	Introduction	69
	4.2	Demographic Profile	70
	4.3	Descriptive Analyses of the Variables/Constructs	71
	4.4	Assessing the Structural Model	73
	4.5	Test of Mediation	78
	4.6	Summary	83
5	SUMN	MARY, DISCUSSION, CONCLUSION, IMPLICATIONS	84
	AND I	RECOMMENDATIONS	
	5.1	Summary of the Study	84
	5.2	Discussion	84
		5.2.1. Predictors of Health Behaviours	85
		5.2.2 Predictors of Self-Efficacy	87
		5.2.3 Predictors of Emotional Intelligence	89
		5.2.4 Roles of Mediators	91
	5.3	Conclusion	92
	5.4	Theoretical implications	93
	5.5	Practical implications	94
	5.6	Recommendations for further studies	99
REFE	RENCE	s	100
APPE	NDICES		130
BIODATA OF STUDENT			184
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS			185

## LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
3.1	Procedure Using Proportionate Stratified Sampling	46
3.2	The Components of Questionnaire	48
3.3	Original Individual Constructs	53
3.4	Criteria of Fit Indices	55
3.5	Criteria of Convergent Validity	59
3.6	Reliability of the Constructs	60
3.7	Average Variance Extracted (on the diagonal) and	63
	Squared Correlation (on the Off-diagonal) between	
	Variables	
3.8	Normality of the data	64
3.9	Mahalanobis d <sup>2</sup> potential outlier	65
3.10	Mahalanobis d <sup>2</sup> divide by degree of freedom potential	65
	outlier	
3.11	Decision Criteria for Mediation	67
4.1	Distribution of respondents by gender	70
4.2	Distribution of respondents by race	70
4.3	Distribution of respondents by college	71
4.4	Descriptive analyses in terms of performance levels for EI,	72
	SI, SS, SE and HB	
4.5	Regression Weights and Standard Regression Weights	75
1.0	for Revised Structural Model	
4.6	Summary of Results of Testing Hypotheses for Objective	11
47	Une E-malained Marianes (Second Matkinghe Completions) for	70
4./	Explained Variance (Squared Multiple Correlations) for	/8
10	Revised Model Revised Model Revised For Tenth Null	70
4.0	Hypothesis	19
4.0	Populta of Pootstrap Analysis for Eleventh Null	70
4.9	Hypothesis	13
4 10	Results of Bootstran Analysis for Twelveth Null	80
1.10	Hypothesis	00
4 1 1	Results of Bootstran Analysis for Thirteenth Null	81
1.1.1	Hypothesis	01
4.12	Results of Bootstrap Analysis for Fourteenth Null	81
	Hypothesis	01
4.13	Results of Bootstrap Analysis for Fifteenth Null	82
	Hypothesis	
4.14	Results of Bootstrap Analysis for Sixteenth Null	82
	Hypothesis	
4.15	Summary of Hypothesis Mediation Variables	83

6

## LIST OF FIGURES

2.1    Theory of Triadic Influence (Flay & Petraitis, 1994)    18      2.2    Conceptual Framework    40      3.1    University Student Health Behaviour Model    42      Conceptual Framework (USHCF)    55      3.2    CFA for Emotional Intelligence Construct    56      3.3    CFA for Spiritual Intelligence Construct    56      3.4    CFA for Social Support Construct before parcelling item    56      SET deleted    57      3.6    CFA for Social Support Construct after parcelling item    56      SET deleted    57      3.6    CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items    57      3.7    CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct    57      3.8    CFA for Health Behaviour Construct    57      3.9    The Proposed Measurement Model    62      3.10    Direct Effect Model    66      3.11    Path Diagram for Mediation Model    73      4.2    The Revised Structural Model    74      4.3    The Revised Structural Model    74      4.3    The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths    87      5.1    Pre	Figure		Page
2.2Conceptual Framework403.1University Student Health Behaviour Model42Conceptual Framework (USHCF)553.2CFA for Emotional Intelligence Construct553.3CFA for Spiritual Intelligence Construct563.4CFA for Social Support Construct before parcelling item56SET deleted563.5CFA for Social Support Construct after parcelling item56SET deleted573.6CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items573.7CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct573.8CFA for Health Behaviour Construct573.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths875.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	2.1	Theory of Triadic Influence (Flay & Petraitis, 1994)	18
3.1    University Student Health Behaviour Model    42      Conceptual Framework (USHCF)    55      3.2    CFA for Emotional Intelligence Construct    55      3.3    CFA for Spiritual Intelligence Construct    56      3.4    CFA for Social Support Construct before parcelling item    56      3.5    CFA for Social Support Construct after parcelling item    56      3.6    CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items    57      3.6    CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct    57      3.8    CFA for Health Behaviour Construct    57      3.9    The Proposed Measurement Model    62      3.10    Direct Effect Model    66      3.11    Path Diagram for Mediation Model    67      4.1    The Proposed Structural Model    73      4.2    The Revised Structural Model    74      4.3    The Revised Structural Model    74      4.3    The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths    89      5.1    Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy    89      5.3    Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence    91      5.4    University Stu	2.2	Conceptual Framework	40
Conceptual Framework (USHCF)3.2CFA for Emotional Intelligence Construct553.3CFA for Spiritual Intelligence Construct563.4CFA for Social Support Construct before parcelling item SET deleted563.5CFA for Social Support Construct after parcelling item SET deleted563.6CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items573.7CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items573.8CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct573.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model875.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.1	University Student Health Behaviour Model	42
3.2    CFA for Emotional Intelligence Construct    55      3.3    CFA for Spiritual Intelligence Construct    56      3.4    CFA for Social Support Construct before parcelling item SET deleted    56      3.5    CFA for Social Support Construct after parcelling item SET deleted    56      3.6    CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items    57      3.7    CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct    57      3.8    CFA for Health Behaviour Construct    57      3.9    The Proposed Measurement Model    62      3.10    Direct Effect Model    66      3.11    Path Diagram for Mediation Model    73      4.2    The Revised Structural Model    74      4.3    The Revised Structural Model    74      5.1    Predictors that influence Health Behaviour    87      5.2    Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy    89      5.3    Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy    89      5.4    University Students Health Behaviour Model    94      5.5    The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model    98		Conceptual Framework (USHCF)	
3.3CFA for Spiritual Intelligence Construct563.4CFA for Social Support Construct before parcelling item SET deleted563.5CFA for Social Support Construct after parcelling item SET deleted563.6CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items573.7CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct573.8CFA for Health Behaviour Construct573.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model674.1The Proposed Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths785.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.2	CFA for Emotional Intelligence Construct	55
3.4CFA for Social Support Construct before parcelling item SET deleted563.5CFA for Social Support Construct after parcelling item SET deleted563.6CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items573.7CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct573.8CFA for Health Behaviour Construct573.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model745.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.3	CFA for Spiritual Intelligence Construct	56
SET deleted3.5CFA for Social Support Construct after parcelling item SET deleted563.6CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items573.7CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct573.8CFA for Health Behaviour Construct573.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model674.1The Proposed Structural Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths875.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy Source Structural Model915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.4	CFA for Social Support Construct before parcelling item	56
3.5CFA for Social Support Construct after parcelling item SET deleted563.6CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items573.7CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct573.8CFA for Health Behaviour Construct573.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model674.1The Proposed Structural Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths875.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98		SET deleted	
SET deleted3.6CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items573.7CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct573.8CFA for Health Behaviour Construct573.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model674.1The Proposed Structural Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths875.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy S.3895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.5	CFA for Social Support Construct after parcelling item	56
3.6CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items573.7CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct573.8CFA for Health Behaviour Construct573.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model674.1The Proposed Structural Model734.2The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths785.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98		SET deleted	
3.7CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct573.8CFA for Health Behaviour Construct573.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model674.1The Proposed Structural Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths875.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.6	CFA for Social Support Construct using individual items	57
3.8CFA for Health Behaviour Construct573.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model674.1The Proposed Structural Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths875.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.7	CFA for Self-Efficacy Construct	57
3.9The Proposed Measurement Model623.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model674.1The Proposed Structural Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths785.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.8	CFA for Health Behaviour Construct	57
3.10Direct Effect Model663.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model674.1The Proposed Structural Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths785.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.9	The Proposed Measurement Model	62
3.11Path Diagram for Mediation Model674.1The Proposed Structural Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths785.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.10	Direct Effect Model	66
4.1The Proposed Structural Model734.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths785.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	3.11	Path Diagram for Mediation Model	67
4.2The Revised Structural Model744.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths785.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	4.1	The Proposed Structural Model	73
4.3The Revised Structural Model with Significant and Non-significant Paths785.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	4.2	The Revised Structural Model	74
Non-significant Paths5.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	4.3	The Revised Structural Model with Significant and	78
5.1Predictors that influence Health Behaviour875.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98		Non-significant Paths	
5.2Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy895.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	5.1	Predictors that influence Health Behaviour	87
5.3Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence915.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	5.2	Predictors that influence Self-Efficacy	89
5.4University Students Health Behaviour Model945.5The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model98	5.3	Predictors that influences Emotional Intelligence	91
5.5 The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model 98	5.4	University Students Health Behaviour Model	94
	5.5	The Reflection Flow Chart based on the USHB Model	98

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AES	Assessing Emotions Scale
AGFI	Adjusted Goodness of Fit Index
AIC	Akaike's Information Criterion
AP	Appraisal
AVE	Average Variance Extracted
BE	Belonging
BC	Bias Corrected
CET	Critical Existential Thinking
CFA	Confirmatory Factor Analysis
CFI	Comparative Fit Index
CI	Confidence Interval
CR	Construct Reliability
CSE	Conscious State Expansion
EI	Emotional Intelligence
GFI	Goodness of Fit Index
GSES	General Self Efficacy Scale
HBM	Health Belief Model
HBQ	Health Behaviour Questionnaire
HS	Hazardous Substance
ISEL	Interpersonal Support Evaluation List
KC	Kolej Canselor
KMR	Kolej Mohamad Rashid
KOSASS	Kolej Sultan Alaeddin Sulaiman Shah
KPZ	Kolej Pendita Zaba
KTDI	Kolej Tun Dr. Ismail
KTP	Kolej Tun Perak
MOE	Manage Own's Emotions
Ν	Nutrition
NFI	Normed Fit Index
РА	Physical Activity
PMP	Personal Meaning Production
PNFI	Parsimony Normed Fit Index
POE	Perceive of Emotion
RMSR	Root Mean Square Residual
RMSEA	Root Mean Squares Error of Approximation
ROE	Regulate other's Emotions
S	Safety
SE	Self-Efficacy
SEM	Structural Equation Modelling
SET	Self-Esteem
SI	Spiritual Intelligence
SISRI	Spiritual Intelligence Self Report Inventory
SM	Stress Management
SS	Social Support
ТА	Transcendental Awareness
TN	Tangible
TPB	Theory of Planned Behaviour
TRA	Theory of Reasoned Action

TTI	Theory of Triadic Influence
UOE	Utilize of Emotions
UPM	Universiti Putra Malaysia
USHBCF	University Students Health Behaviour Conceptual Framework
USHBM	University Students Health Behaviour Model



C

#### CHAPTER 1

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Thesis or dissertation is the final product for a study. It is the documentation of thought, decision and most critical of it, it is a logical reconstruction of a researcher for a researcher (Mouton, 2001).

#### 1.1 Introduction

It is believed that life of a university student is different compared to life in the school (Sabbah, Sabbah, Khamis, Sabbah, & Droubi, 2013; Beck, Martens, Royland & Watson, 2005). This is due to vast responsibility borne by them alone when they are at the university. Students in higher education are perceived to be leading a healthy life style due to their level of education (Wang, Xing & Wu, 2013; Solberg, Asche, Boyle, McCarty, & Thoele, 2007). However, according to studies in the West, it is a mirage because more college students tend to be involved in unhealthy activities such as smoking, binge eating, binge drinking of alcohol and indulging in free sex (Tanton, Dodd, Woodfield, & Mabhala, 2015; Farhat, Iannotti, & Simons-Morton, 2010). This is worrisome since the probabilities of developing cancer and other chronic diseases are increased by such lifestyles as well as physical inactivity (Spring, King, Pagoto, Van Horn, & Fisher, 2015).

This scenario is also visible among Malaysian college students where 25.9% do not practice safe sex, 10.8% smokes since age of 15 years of age, 7% are involve in drunk driving and 19.3% travelled in cars driven by drunk drivers (Liew, Noor Illiati, Yii, & Siti Nadzrah, 2011). Likewise, study by Follasayo, Oluwasegun, Suhailah, Siti Nor Sakinah, Malina & Rukman (2017) that studied on undergraduates on two universities; Universiti Putra Malaysia and a private university; also demonstrated similar lifestyle among the students that are sexually active; 66.7% of the students had sexual intercourse with multiple partners, 18% had sex with commercial sex workers, 17.4% took alcohol before sex and 9.4% took drugs before having sex.

Could this then affect the aim of Vision 2020 negatively where the upcoming graduates are expected to be future leaders of high performance ability and high level thinkers? As we know, younger generation, especially university students is the pillar for the country's development. To achieve that, health attitude and behaviour among the students are greatly important. However, referring to past research, the risk of symptoms of negative health behaviours such as smoking, alcohol consumption, inactive and obesity among university students are on the rise (Al-Naggar, Bobryshev & Nor Aini, , 2013). The percentage of chronic diseases such as diabetes and heart disease is attributed to the symptoms of unhealthy behaviours (Nag & Ghosh, 2013; Yusuf et al., 2004) and indirectly resulted in declined of students' academic performance (So & Park, 2016; Ballantine, 2010; Gill, 2002; Trockel, Barnes, & Egget, 2000). Negative health symptoms will lead to the deterioration of graduate human capital and jeopardize the pride of Malaysians against this so called well-educated generation.

#### 1.2 Background of Study

The university students are the future leaders for the next generation. Being successful in the university is a dream for every student which could be a determinator of future life. To achieve success, the student requires profound dedication, sacrifice from a variety of angles and levels, self-discipline, and be highly motivated (Salami, 2010). Besides busy attending lectures and complete assignments, the university students at the same time need to actively participate in activities at their own respective residential colleges to continue their eligibility boarding right. This could lead to stress and life under pressure (Ekpenyong, Daniel & Aribo, 2013; Kimball & Freysinger, 2003). Difficulties in overcoming the stress from the vast challenges faced can induce negative health behaviours, failures in academic performance as well as negative attitude towards learning (So & Park, 2016; Salami, 2010).

The problem of health behaviour among university students should be a concern as it can affect self image and self confidence (Piqueras et al., 2011) and indirectly may affect academic and activity performance in the university. The negative health behaviour among the university students might be a lifetime setback, at work, married life and old age (Quartiroli & Maeda, 2016; Huntsinger & Luecke, 2004). In conclusion, this negative behaviour will affect productivity, economy and prosperity of the country.

Identifying factors or decision that leads to the pattern of health behaviour can help in reducing the negative health behaviours among students (Waterworth, Pescud, Braham, Dimmock, & Rosenberg, 2015; Pritchard, Milligan, Elgin, Rush, & Shea, 2007; Huntsinger & Luecke, 2004). Among the health factors identified by past research was age (Deeds, Lombard, Michelmore & Teed, 2009; Rodham, Brewer, Mistral, & Stallard, 2006), gender (Deeds, Lombard, Michelmore & Teed, 2009; Charles & Walters, 2008), socio-economic status (Morgen, Bjørk, Andersen, Mortensen, & Nybo Andersen, 2008; Albery & Munafò, 2008), personality (Albery & Munafò, 2008; Habra, Linden, Anderson, & Weinberg, 2003; Williams, O'Carroll, & O'Connor, 2009), adherence (Dolan & Adler, 2006), health beliefs (Saunders, Attard, Cremona & Gatt, 2009; Naidoo & Wills, 2000), locus of control (van de Putte et al., 2005; Burkhart, Patricia Vernal; Rayens, 2005; Tokuda et al., 2007; Trento et al., 2008; Newman, Steed, & Mulligan, 2004), social support (Williams et al., 2008; Uchino, 2006; Von Ah, Ebert, Ngamvitroj, Park, & Kang, 2004), perseverence (Von Ah et al., 2004), emotional intelligence (Schutte, Malouff, Thorsteinsson, Bhullar, & Rooke, 2007; Tsaousis & Nikolaou, 2005; (Saklofske, Austin, Galloway, & Davidson, 2007); Martins, Ramalho, & Morin, 2010), spiritual intelligence (Cotton, Larkin, Hoopes, Cromer, & Rosenthal, 2005); (Adeyemo & Adeleye, 2008), self-efficacy (Mizutani et al., 2012; Tehrani & Nikpour, 2014) and stress or pressure (Ng & Jeffrey, 2003).



According to WHO (2014), wholesome health is made up of physical, spiritual, intellectual, emotional, social and economic self which coincides with the National Philosophy on Education. Hence, it would be more meaningful to consider all these factors to study on health behaviours, apart from factors mentioned above. However, due to research constraints and limitations, the researcher chose the most important factors that would influence health behaviour among Malaysian undergraduate students. Hence, this study looked on emotional intelligence (EI), spiritual intelligence (SI), social

support (SS), and self efficacy (SE) on health behaviour (HB). EI and SI were selected because both factors are identified by many researchers as catalyst or deciding factors for total well-being and achieving successful life (Aminuddin, 2009). Aminuddin (2009) and many other studies (Sodhi, 2016; Madhumarthi & Suparna, 2017) have demonstrated that high EI and SI would promote individuals to be responsible for their health and practice positive health behaviours. Social support was selected as an influencing factor because according to findings of past studies university students would not be able to appreciate life or happiness and achieve excellence in academics without social support, especially from families and friends (Masten, Tušak, Zalar, & Ziherl, 2009; Márquez, Martín, & Brackett, 2006). It was also found that those who were less sociable with friends and family are likely to have mental problems and health risk behaviour (Umberson & Montez, 2010). Finally, self-efficacy was also chosen as a deciding factor as it is deem to be an important trait in the development of university students' health behaviour (Tehrani & Nikpour, 2014; Saksvig et al., 2005). From the study of Glanz, Rimer, and Lewis (2002), high self-efficacy can be a pillar to a lasting healthy lifestyle. Thus, self-efficacy was taken to be used as a mediator variable in this study.

The theoretical framework of the study is based on the Theory of Triadic Influence (TTI; Flay and Petraitis, 1994). TTI unifies multiple theories into a single framework where exogenous variables or the independent variables are grouped into three streams of influence and three levels of causation (Bavarian, Flay, Ketcham, Smit, Kodama, Martin & Saltz, 2014). The three streams of influence are divided to personality trait that influences self-efficacy (which is the intrapersonal stream), bonding attachment that influences behavioral norms (which is the social context stream) and cultural environmental that influences attitudes towards a behaviour (which is the sociocultural stream). The three levels of causation are ranged from ultimate causes (which has the least control over an individual for example politics, educational level and socioeconomic status), distal, and proximal. The ultimate-level causes are examples of derivation on parental values and cultural practices which varies widely from place to place. For example, urban dwellers would have different ultimate influence compared to rural dwellers. Ultimate level causes are relatively stable however they are the most influential; meaning that they are the most difficult cause to change which make a person who they are. For health behaviour, a change in the ultimate cause would most often have the greatest and longest-lasting effect. However, in this study no ultimate factors were looked at since the researcher were more interested in looking at factors or variables that could be easily changed or adapted in terms of health behavior while they are studying at the university. This is to assist in recommendation of programs in the university. Instead, distal and distal-proximal level influences were looked at which reflects the individual interaction between social situation, cultural environment and intrapersonal skills. The distal-level and distal-proximal level influence variables are likely to have a better chance for an individual to have a control over. Hence, in aligned with WHO (2014) definition of wholesome health and past research literatures; emotional intelligence, spiritual intelligence, social support were chosen.

In the context of this study; SI was chosen to meet the cultural and environment stream, SS was chosen to meet the social context stream and EI was chosen to meet the intrapersonal stream. Apart from that, self-efficacy (SE) was selected as it is a part of the proximal-level predictor of the TTI; which is the immediate precursor to health behaviour and is under the control of an individual, even though still influenced by the

distal and ultimate factors as mentioned earlier. Past research has shown that proximal variables included in the TTI such as self-efficacy are the predictive of health behaviours (Flay et al., 2009). In the present study, SE is set as the mediator which was referred with other studies (Darker, French, Eves & Sniehotta, 2010; Hyde, Hankins, Deale, & Marteau, 2008). EI was also set as mediator as showed in other studies (Jacobs, Wollny, Sim, & Horsch, 2016). Here, EI is selected as distal-proximal variable; different from the original TTI framework which termed EI as distal variable. As a note, this study termed SI and SS as exogenous variables, while EI, SE and HB as endogenous variables; meaning exogenous variables are the independent variables while endogenous variables are the dependent and mediator variables. Hence, the objectives of the study were referred in the manner of endogenous and exogenous variables.

#### 1.2.1 Emotional Intelligence (EI) as a Factor

Health behaviours of students in a university are influenced by an important role attributed by emotional intelligence (EI) (Bhochhhiboya & Branscum, 2015; Austin, Saklofske, & Egan, 2005). Study of EI has been done extensively based on two criteria: measurement of EI is not static and is subject to their individual capacity; result relates to EI are diverse, i.e. not focused on one element or condition (Austin et al., 2005). According to Salovey and Grewal, (2005), EI is the combination of the interaction between emotion and cognition. A more detailed explanation was given by Mayer, Salovey, and Caruso (2004). The EI model is made up of 4 abilities: perception of interpersonal and intrapersonal emotions, emotional use for decision making (regulations), understanding emotions and finally controlling self-emotions of others (Mayer, Salovey & Caruso, 2004). Furthermore, EI was described by Mayer, Roberts, and Barsade (2008) as the capacity to carry out accurate reasoning about emotions and the capability to use emotions and emotional knowledge to improve thought.

Students who have high EI was found to have lower risk of unhealthy behaviours such as smoking and alcohol consumption that was influenced by peer influence (Rivers, Brackett, Omori & Sickler, 2013; Trinidad & Johnson, 2002). In addition, high EI was also found to be a predictor for a greater awareness for adults to get medical support and counselling for those with psychological problems (Syqit-Kowalkowska, Syqit & Syqit, 2015; Ciarrochi & Deane, 2001). A meta-analysis study carried out by Meyer, Van Rooy and Viswesvaran (2004), also found similar results that EI could promote health status as well as health, wellness and stress management (Bar On, 2012; Schutte et al., 2007). Thus, EI is deemed to be a vital independent variable related to health behaviour.

#### 1.2.2 Spiritual Intelligence (SI) as a Factor

Spiritual intelligence (SI) is an ability that is recently being introduced in the study of social sciences. According to Zohar and Marshall (2000), SI is an intelligent face that portrays the true meaning in various issues of life, namely the ability to deploy behaviour and one's life in a more meaningful context for oneself and also others. SI is related to the belief in the creator (*Hablum minallah*) and also the means of the highest intelligence (Zohar & Marshall, 2000). A high capacity of SI can improve well-being in which one can deal with stress efficiently and appropriately (Koshravi & Nikmanesh, 2014;

Santrock, 2002). Moreover, researches from Moalemi (2015) and Cotton et al. (2005) found that students who have high SI were less at risk in getting mental disorders such as depression and having negative health behaviours such as smoking and drinking. Thus, SI should also be given the same attention to curb negative health behaviours among university students.

#### 1.2.3 Social Support (SS) as a Factor

The importance of social support to health has been presented by the study conducted by Berkman and Syme in early 1979. It was found that those who socialized less died earlier. A study by Uchino (2006) also found that there was significance negative relationship between the rate of incidence of disease and death with high social support. This was because social support can improve a person's physical and mental well-being (Xiao, Li & Stanton, 2014; Uchino, 2006). Hence, social support was also selected as one of the variables in the study.

#### 1.2.4 Self-efficacy (SE) as a Factor

Self-efficacy plays a significant role in developing students' health behaviour (Tehrani & Nikpour, 2014; Saksvig et al., 2005). From the study from Glanz, Rimer, and Lewis (2002), found that high self-effectiveness can be a pillar to lasting healthy lifestyle. Thus, self-efficacy is taken in as a variable to be used as an intermediate variable in this study.

#### 1.2.5 Conclusion

However, from previous studies most psychosocial factors that have been selected were conducted separately or analyzed in a separate model whereas all four determinant factors are mutually important in explaining health behaviour of the university students (Ogunsawa, Abioudun, Ayodele & Olanrewaju, 2014).

#### 1.3 Problem Statement

It is undeniable that most university students have adequate intellectual ability. However, many of these students would not succeed and dropped out eventually in their studies and academic endeavor (Márquez et al., 2006). One of the reason for this failure is because the inability to handle stressors as a student and subsequently adopt unhealthy behaviours (Al-Naggar et al., 2013; Piqueras et al., 2011; Von Ah et al., 2004). Studies have shown that risky health behaviours like the practice of unsafe sex, alcohol consumption and excess consumption of sleeping pills can be harmful to health and therefore bring a variety of psychosocial problems for students including academic failure (Al-Naggar et al., 2013; Ham & Hope, 2003; Weschler et al., 2002; Hingson & Howland, 2002). This problem is also evident at Universiti Putra Malaysia (a study done on UPM and another university) as a study showed that among that are sexually active; 66.7% of the students had sexual intercourse with multiple partners, 18% had sex with commercial sex workers, 17.4% took alcohol before sex and 9.4% took drugs before having sex (Folasayo, Oluwasegun, Suhailah, Siti Nor Sakinah, Malina & Rukman, 2017). In addition, the negative health behaviours such as physical inactivity and

unhealthy diets also affect chronic disease to students such as obesity and diabetes mellitus that can be extended to the realm of employment, marriage and later in the lifetime (Quintiliani, Allen, Marino, Kelly-Weeder, & Li, 2010; Gordon-Larsen, Nelson, & Popkin, 2004). Also evident at Universiti Putra Malaysia where 16.6% medical students who reside on campus are obese and 3.3 % are overweight (Nor Afiah, Suriani, Abdul Hakim, Simmadorai, & Nor Shahida Akhma, 2014). Hence, through the study done by Folasayo et al. (2017) and Mohd Zulkefli et al. (2014) among undergraduates at Universiti Putra Malaysia, it showed that the scenario of risky health behaviours and unhealthy status of undergraduates do exist at Universiti Putra Malaysia. This could be a globalization effect of risky health behaviours among university students. Thus, if health behaviours are not given the appropriate attention at the university level, then the future generation would be unhealthy and a burden to the country.

Identification of factors influencing health behaviour should be based on the theory that is applicable to a variety of health behaviours (Noar, Chabot, & Zimmerman, 2008). However, most past research did not use a comprehensive framework when reviewing various health behaviours (Plotnikoff et al., 2009; Sanchez et al., 2007). Specific theories were being used such as the Health Belief Model (Becker, 1974), Theory of Reasoned Action (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980) and Theory of Planned Behaviour (Ajzen, 1991). Thus, most of the relationship under reviewed was only done in single health behaviour and not staged as multiple health behaviours. To understand health behaviours, a more composite theory should be used (Alamian et al., 2012; Flay, 2002). Consequently, the researcher have chosen self-efficacy and emotional intelligence as part of the endogenous variables (mediators) in order to cover existing gaps, as well as taking into account the exogenous variables in this study i.e., spiritual intelligence (SI), social support (SS) and emotional intelligence (EI) which are distal variables while selfefficacy (SE) is the proximal variable from the Theory of Triadic Influence (TTI) (Flay & Petraitis, 1994). In the theory, EI was seen as distal variable however in this study it is hypothesized as distal-proximal as it's stand as a mediator. Therefore, a different approach from the traditional of the TTI theory that put EI, SI and SS on the same stream level was used. Hence, a new model will be formed from the TTI theory in which directly will have a contribution to the existing theory.

Based on the above scenario, there is a need to review the relationship between SI and SS as regard to the university students' health behaviours together with the relationship of their emotional intelligence and self-efficacy as mediators on health behaviours in a similar model to see how far all the psychosocial factors will contribute to health behaviours. As for the study, only undergraduates that reside in the UPM campus were selected as the main concern of the researcher as to see the patterns of health behaviours among undergraduates who stayed on campus to develop programs to the colleges involved. This is part of the main agenda of the university to develop a wholesome graduate as most of the undergraduates at UPM stays on campus (almost 95%).



#### 1.4 Objectives of the Study

The main objective of the study is to develop a health behaviour model in terms of getting the path of relationships between the exogenous (independent) and the endogenous (dependent and mediators) variables. In order to have that achieved an investigation of relationships between Emotional Intelligence (EI), Spiritual Intelligence (SI), Social Support (SS) and Self Efficacy (SE) with health behaviours among undergraduate students in Universiti Putra Malaysia (UPM) was done. An investigation of relationship on emotional intelligence and self-efficacy as mediators in regards to the students ' health behaviours in UPM was also looked at. The following statement " an endogenous variable treated as dependent in one set of variables may also be conceived as an independent variable in relation to other variables" (Pedhazur, 1982, pg.581) is taken into account in setting the objectives of the study.

Based on the above general objectives, four specific objectives have been developed as follows:

- 1. To examine the predictive factors that has relationships with the endogenous variables (dependent variables and mediators) among undergraduate students at UPM.
- 2. To investigate the role of self-efficacy as mediator for health behaviours among undergraduate students at UPM.
- 3. To investigate the role of emotional intelligence as mediator for health behaviours among undergraduate students at UPM.
- 4. To investigate the role of emotional intelligence as a mediator for self-efficacy among undergraduate students at UPM.

#### 1.5 Hypotheses

Based on the objectives stated above, below are the null hypotheses concerned.

#### **Objective 1**

- H<sub>0</sub>1: Spiritual intelligence has no significant relationship on health behaviours among the undergraduate students at UPM.
- H<sub>0</sub>2: Spiritual intelligence has no significant relationship on self-efficacy among the undergraduate students at UPM.
- H<sub>0</sub>3: Spiritual intelligence has no significant relationship on emotional intelligence among the undergraduate students at UPM.
- $H_04$ : Emotional intelligence has no significant relationship on health behaviour among the undergraduate students at UPM.
- $H_05$ : Emotional intelligence has no significant relationship on self-efficacy among the undergraduates at UPM.
- $H_06$ : Social support has no significant relationship on health behaviour among the undergraduates at UPM.
- H<sub>0</sub>7: Social support has no significant relationship on emotional intelligence among the undergraduates at UPM.
- H<sub>0</sub>8: Social support has no significant relationship on self-efficacy among

undergraduates at UPM.

H<sub>0</sub>9: Self efficacy has no significant relationship on health behaviour among the undergraduate students at UPM.

#### **Objective 2**

- $H_010$ : Self efficacy do not mediates the relationship of emotional intelligence on health behaviour among undergraduates at UPM.
- H<sub>0</sub>11: Self efficacy do not mediates the relationship of spiritual intelligence on health behaviour among undergraduates at UPM.
- $H_012$ : Self efficacy do not mediates the relationship of social support on health behaviour among undergraduates at UPM.

#### **Objective 3**

- H<sub>0</sub>13: Emotional intelligence do not mediates the relationship of spiritual intelligence on health behaviour among undergraduates at UPM.
- $H_014_{:}$  Emotional intelligence do not mediates the relationship of social support on health behaviour among undergraduates at UPM.

#### **Objective 4**

- $H_015$ : Emotional intelligence do not mediates the relationship of spiritual intelligence on self-efficacy among undergraduates at UPM.
- H<sub>0</sub>16: Emotional intelligence do not mediates the relationship of social support on self-efficacy among undergraduates at UPM.

#### 1.6 Significance of the Study

#### **1.6.1** Contribution to theory

There are various theories that apply to health behaviour. Few insist on the cognitive/affective proximal factors such as attitudes, norms beliefs, self-efficacy and intent (Ajzen, 1991; Fishbein and Ajzen, 1975). Meanwhile, few uses the theory that focuses on the ultimate factor or the cause/causes such as the environment (Biglan, 2004), social (Magnusson, 1981), and biological (Frankenhaeuser, 1991) or personality (Digman, 1990; Zuckerman et. al., 1990). Others use the theory that focus on more distal factors such as social support and interpersonal, relationship connection process (Elliott, et. al., 1985; Oetting and Beauvais, 1986) or the theory that leverage social learning process factors (Akers, Krohn, Lanza-Kaduce, & Radosevich, 1979; Bandura, 1977). The use of the above theories are suitable for studies in investigating single influential factors, which are proximal, distal or ultimate factors but not a combination of two or three factors (Flay, Snyder, & Petraitis, 2009). Thus, there is a gap in previous studies for not using a comprehensive theory to understand the wholeness factors in health behaviour.



In addition, most of the previous studies did not use a comprehensive theoretical framework in health behaviour as it should be reviewed (Plotnikoff et al., 2009; Sanchez et al., 2007). Mostly using the theory of Health Belief Model (Becker, 1974), Theory of Reasoned Action (Ajzen & Fishbein, 1980) and Theory of Planned Behaviour (Ajzen, 1991) which is a theory that is suitable for specific health behaviours, not comprehensive. This is critical because the identification of factors that influence a variety of health behaviours should be made based on a theory that could include a variety of health behaviours (Noar et al., 2008). Thus, questions need to be answered through theories such as "why individuals engage in regular physical activity, a balanced diet and not smoking while some are not? but most can only answer "Why does he smoke? Hence, these questions cannot be answered inclusively for multiple health behaviours. Thus, the Theory of Triadic Influence (Flay & Petraitis, 2010; Flay & Petraitis, 1994) which is a comprehensive theory-based on ultimate influence, distal and proximal was used.

This study will describe the contribution of psychosocial factors associated with EI, SI, SS, and SE on health behaviour among university students, where self-eficacy and emotional intelligence are the mediator variables. Previously, there were no studies that review the variables proposed in the conceptual framework-model in a comprehensive manner, especially in Malaysia. In order to overcome this gap, this study uses an integrated approach through Structured Equation Modeling to analyze all the variables in the study and simultaneously determine the relationship between related variables.

#### 1.6.2 Contribution to Policies and Practices

Through the results or findings of the study, there are various parties that are expected to get the benefits. Firstly, those who would hopefully benefit are the students of the university. Second would be the education institution, namely the Ministry of Higher Education and universities involved. This is the main intention of the researcher to carry out this study in order to increase awareness of all relevant parties to ensure a future healthy generation in order to carry the nation's obligation as a developed country. Good health is important so that productivity will be achieved to the fullest. Hence, this study could serve as a useful input to the Ministry and many Malaysian universities to formulate or strengthen the current intervention programmes.

In addition, lecturers also should take note on the seriousness of health behaviour and attitudes of students attending their lectures. This is because the lecturer is the closest to the student besides their peers in the university. The responsibility of the lecturer is not only restricted to deliver knowledge but also in developing the student as well. This research allows lecturers in managing negative health behaviour of a student effectively by imparting suggestions proposed by the researcher of the study.

Next, parents and guardians can also benefit from this study and use as a reference and guidance to overcome negative behaviour among university students by providing appropriate social support. In addition, the study also helps parents to understand their children's behaviour and find effective interventions toward positive health behaviours. Besides providing the role model and a conducive home environment, hopefully the

culture of strong family bonding would also strengthen the individual health behaviour, along with emotional and spiritual intelligence as well. Thus, a more wholesome graduate could be produced, which is glorious in personality and moral character (in relation with health behaviour) and also cognitive ability.

#### 1.7 Scope of the Study

There are several determinants that influenced health behaviour from the health behaviour theory i.e. biological, psychological, social and cognitive (Sutton, 2004). Sutton (2005) and Flay (1997) also said that the decisive factors for this behaviour may be due to the ultimate, proximal or distal factors. Proximal decisive factor on behaviours will influence the behaviour directly (closest) while distal is indirectly, where it requires intermediate variables (Sutton, 2005) and the ultimate-level causes are broad but relatively stable, that individuals have little control over such as their cultural environment. For this study, the determinants selected, i.e. SI and SS are the types of distal variables that span most of the psychological variable factors in the Malaysian National Education Philosophy. EI was chosen as a distal-proximal variable compared to just a distal variable from the TTI framework. This is because the researcher hypothesizes that EI stands between distal and proximal and its importance as a mediator in this study. Besides that, the prior factors were chosen because there has been no previous study that observes the factors in a group and also these factors are included in the World Health Organization (2014) as factors for wholesome individual being. Prior to this, there are a few studies conducted outside the country which studied the impact of EI, SI and SS towards health behaviour as a separate entity. In addition, SE and EI were seen as mediator variables on health behaviour of university students.

Furthermore, the population that was used in the study was undergraduates that reside in Universiti Putra Malaysia campus only. This was because almost 95% of the total students that studied at UPM during the first and second semester of 2015-2016 resided in campus. This is similar to many research universities in Malaysia. Many past researchers looked at students who stayed on campus and most were in risk of having negative health behaviours. Most importantly, the researcher decided to just concentrate on the undergraduates who stayed on campus to suggest promotive health programs based on psycho-social balance program to the university residential community.

#### 1.8 Limitations in the Study

Limitations to the study are listed below. The rationalization of the study's limitations is as follows:

1. The data obtained from the questionnaires or instruments that were based on the respondents' self-report on the items provided. Therefore, the reliability of the data is dependent on the sincerity and determination of the respondents. However, this issue was controlled by researchers by briefing the significance of the study, especially in terms of responding honestly to each item in the instrument as well as the confidentiality of respondents' answers that was guaranteed by the researcher. 2. The sample taken for this study is from students living in the dorms or residential colleges from one public university. Thus, the data obtained cannot be generalized to all university students in this country. This is done to see the patterns of health behaviours among undergraduates who stayed on campus to develop programs to the colleges involved. This is part of the main agenda of the university to develop wholesome graduates as most of the undergraduates at UPM stays on campus (almost 95%). Nevertheless, the findings of this study can still provide legitimate and useful interpretation of the variables studied.

#### **1.9 Definition of Terms**

In this study, certain terms will be used to represent the variables. The terms are as follows:

#### 1.9.1 Health behaviour

Health behaviour is a behaviour that could affect or perceived to affect one's physical health (Sutton, 2004, p 94). Coner and Norman (1996) also interpret health behaviours as activities taken to prevent or detect illness or to improve the wellbeing of health and wellbeing. Gochman (1997) has defined health behaviour as a habit or behavioral health pattern for the purpose of maintenance, recovery, and improvement. Meanwhile, Kasl and Cobb (1966) interpreted the behavioral health as a primary precaution that occurred before being exposed to any illness with the aim of maintaining the physical or mental health wellbeing. Additionally, according to Conner (2002), health behaviour can be seen in two ways that is positively and negatively. Positive behaviours are behaviours that enhance one's health status while negative behaviour is a risky behaviour that is harmful to health (Conner, 2002)

Based on the above opinions, in conclusion, health behavior within the scope of this study means a behaviour that can positively and negatively affect one's physical, mental and mental well-being. In the context of this study, both promotive and risky health behaviour was used, however, for technical ease, all risky health behaviour like smoking, drug use and alcohol consumption will be forwarded in a promotive behaviour statement such as "I do not smoke for the last 30 days". The selection of behaviours used in the study are usually based on the usual measurements made on university students as suggested by Dong, Xing and Wu (2012); Steptoe, Wardle, Vinck, Tuomisto, Holte and Wichstrom (1994); Belloc and Breslow (1972). In the context of this study, the instrument used is *Health Promoting Behaviour Questionnaire* is an adaption of *Health Lifestyle* instrument from Bobroff (2015) and the United States Public Service Department, which has 32 items.

#### **1.9.2** Emotional Intelligence (EI)

EI is the capability in controlling self as well as others' emotions, to distinguish between emotions while using that understanding in monitoring their thoughts and emotions. Mayer and Salovey, 1997). According to Mayer and Cobb (2000) EI is interpreted as

the ability to process emotional information and define it to perceptions, attitudes, emotions and emotional management.

In the context of this study, the EI instrument used is the Assessing Emotions Scale (AES, Schutte, Malouff, & Bhullar, 2009) which contains 33 items in which each item is presented based on dimensions of emotional intelligence model developed by Mayer and Salovey (1997).

#### 1.9.3 Spiritual Intelligence (SI)

According to King and DeCicco (2007), SI is a rule of adaptive mental capacity that is based not on material but entirely on the existence of God and its dependent environment. According to Zohar and Marshall (2000), SI is an intellect with real meaning in various issues in life that is the ability to place one's behaviour and life in a more meaningful context in both ourselves and others. In other words, SI is related to the relationship with the creator (Hablum minallah) and is also the highest intelligence (Walsh, 2000). In the context of this study, the instrument used is the Spiritual Intelligence Self Report Inventory (SISRI; King, 2008) which has 24 items and four main domains.

#### 1.9.4 Social support (SS)

According to Umberson and Montez (2010) social support is a quality support network in a relationship (for example to be loved and preserved). According to Masten, Tusak, Zalar and Ziherl (2009), social support can be obtained from various informal sources of communication between individuals. According to Uchino (2006) social support is a social structure and the provision of services for the life of an individual. In the life of a student, social support often involves parents, lecturers and peers (Cohen, 1983). Thus, in the context of this study the Interpersonal Support Evaluation List (ISEL)-48 from Cohen, Mermelstein, Kamarck and Hoberman (1985) was used.

#### 1.9.5 Self-efficacy (SE)

It has been identified that health behaviours and changes in health behavior are determined by self-efficacy (Holloway & Watson, 2002). By definition, self-efficacy is the level of one's confidence in the ability to behave in a certain way to get the desired outcome (Bandura, 1995). In other words, self-efficacy is the stage in which an individual sees his or her own ability to control behaviour (Bandura, 1986; Bandura, 1977). In some theories of behavioral health (Ajzen, 1991; Ajzen 2002; Flay & Petraitis, 1994), one's perception of behaviour control is a proxy for actual control measures. Thus, self-efficacy not only identifies behaviour but also indirectly determines through its effect on intentions. Therefore, for this study the Generalized Self Efficacy Scale (Schwarzer & Jerusalem, 1993) was used.



#### 1.10 Summary

Through the discussions made in this chapter, in terms of the direction, goals and objectives of the study it can be concluded that the researcher would like to determine if EI, SI, SS and SE will affect the health behaviour of students in a public university in Malaysia. Referring to the problems posed by the researcher, it is very critical for the study to be done at the selected university.

In fact, through this research it is hoped that it will help in integrating some of the important qualities that need to be applied in student developmental skills apart from the standard curriculum of tertiary institutions i.e. from the form of spiritual intelligence, emotional intelligence, social support and self-efficacy.



#### REFERENCES

- Abar, C. & Turrisi, R. (2008) How important are parents during the college years? A longitudinal perspective of indirect influences parents yield on their college teens' alcohol use. *Addictive Behaviours*, *33*, 1360–1368.
- Abbey, A. (2002). Alcohol related sexual assault: A common problem among college students. *Journal on Studies of Alcohol, 14*, 118-128.
- Abdollah, Z.R., Keshmiri, M., & Ameri, A.F. (2008). Logo-cognitive role of accidents in decreasing psychological traumas. *Journal of University*, *41*, 8-29.
- Adeyemo, D.A. & Adeleye, A.T. (2008). Emotional intelligence, religiosity and selfefficacy as predictors of psychological well-being among secondary school adolescents in Ogbomoso, Nigeria. *Europe's Journal of Psychology*, 4(1), 2005-2012.
- Ahghar, C. (2014). Effectiveness of the group's spiritual intelligence training on change of attitude towards drugs in students (Persian). *Thought and Behaviour in Clinical Psychology*, 8(30), 77-85.
- Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behaviour. Organizational Behaviour and Human Decision Processes, 50(2), 179-211.
- Ajzen, I., & Fishbein, M. (1980). Understanding attitudes and predicting social behaviour. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Akers, R.L., Krohn, M.D., Lanza-Kaduce, L., & Radosevich, M. (1979). Social learning and deviant behaviour: A specific test of a general theory. *American Sociological Review*, 44(4), 636.
- Alaei, S., Zabihi, R., Ahmadi, A., Doosti, A. & Saberi, S.M. (2017). Emotional intelligence, spiritual intelligence, self-esteem and self-control of substance abuse. *International Neuropsychiatric Disease Journal*, 9(4): 1-8.
- Alamian, A., Paradis, G., Mokdad, A., Marks, J., Stroup, D., Gerberding, J., & Bauman,
  A. (2012). Individual and social determinants of multiple chronic disease behavioral risk factors among youth. *BMC Public Health*, 12(1), 224.
- Albery, I.P. & Munafo, M. (2008). Key Concepts in Health Psychology. London, UK: Sage.
- Allahverdipour, H., Abbasi-Ghahramanloo, A., Mohammadpoorasl, A., et al. (2015) Cigarette smoking and its relationship with perceived familial support and religiosity of university students in Tabriz. *Iranian Journal of Psychiatry*, 10, 136–143.
- Al-naggar, R. A., Bobryshev, Y. V, Aini, N., & Mohd, B. (2013). Lifestyle practice among Malaysian university students, *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 14(3), 1895–1903.

- Aminuddin Hassan. (2009). Emotional and spiritual intelligence as a basis for evaluating the national philosophy of education achievement. *Research Journal of International Studies*, *12*, 59-66.
- Amram, Y., & Dryer, C. (2008). The Integrated Spiritual Intelligence Scale (ISIS): Development and preliminary validation. Paper presented at the 116th Annual (August 2008) Conference of the American Psychological Association, Boston, MA. Retrieved September 17, 2008, from http://www.yosiamram.net/papers.
- Antonovsky, A. (1987). Unraveling the mystery of health: How people manage stress and stay well. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass..
- Anye, E.T., Gallien, T.L., Bian, H., & Moulton, M. (2013). The relationship between spiritual well-being and health-related quality of life in college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 61(7), 414-421.
- Ardell, D. B. (1986). *High level wellness: An alternative to doctors, drugs and disease.* Berkley, CA: Ten Speed Press.
- Arnett, J. J. (2000). Emerging adulthood: A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *American Psychologist*, 55, 469-480.
- Ary, D., Jacobs, L.C., Sorenson, C., & Razavieh, A. (2010). Introduction to research in education. Belmont, CA: Wardsworth, Cengage Learning.
- Austin, E. J., Saklofske, D.H. & Egan, V. (2005). Personality, well-being and health correlates of trait emotional intelligence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 38, 547-558.
- Azzam, H., & Elghonemy, S. (2008). Emotional intelligence and substance abuse: A possible relation. *Current Psychiatry*, *15*, 113-115.
- Azizi, M. & Zamaniyan, M. (2013). The relationship between spiritual intelligence and vocabulary learning strategies in EFL learners. *Theory and Practice in Language Studies*, 3(5), 852-858.
- Bandura, A. (2004). Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Health Educational Behaviour*, *31*(2), 143–164.
- Bandura, A. (2005). The primacy of self-regulation in health promotion. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 54(2), 245–254.
- Bandura, A. (1986). *Social foundations of thought and action: A social cognitive theory.* Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Bandura, A., & Albert. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215.
- Bardzil, P., & Salaski, M. (2003) EI: Fundamental competencies for enhanced service provision. *Managing Service Quality*, 13(2), 97-104.

- Barling, J. & Abel. M. (1983). Self-efficacy beliefs and tennis performance. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 7(3), 265-272.
- Bar-On. (2012). The Impact of Emotional Intelligence on Health and Wellbeing. Emotional Intelligence - New Perspectives and Applications, 29-50.
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51, 1173-1182.
- Bartlett, J.E., Kotrlik, J.W., & Higgins, C.C. (2001). Organizational research: determining appropriate sample size in survey research. *Information Technology, Learning, and Performance Journal*, 19(1), 43-50.
- Baumeister, R.F. & Scher, S.J. (1988). Self-defeating behaviour patterns among normal individuals: Review and analysis of common self-destructive tendencies. *Psychology Bulletin, 104*(1), 3-22.
- Bavarian, N., Flay, B.R., Ketcham, P.L & Smit, E. (2013). Development and psychometric properties of a theory-guided prescription stimulant misuse questionnaire for college students. *Substance Use Misuse*, 48(6), 457–469.
- Beck, N.C., Martens, M.P., Royland, E.M. & Watson, J.C. (2005). Development of the athlete drinking scale. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviours*, 19(2), 158-164.
- Becker, G. (1974). *A Theory of Social Interactions*. Cambridge, MA. Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w0042.pdf
- Becker, H., Stuifbergen, A., Oh, H., & Hall, S. (1993). Self-rated abilities for health practices: A health self-efficacy measure. *Health Values*, 17(5), 42-50.
- Behjat, S. & Chowdhury, M.S. (2012). Emotional intelligence, self-efficacy and diversity receptiveness of university students: A correlation study. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 2(4), 301-312.
- Belloc, N. B., & Breslow, L. (1972). Relationship of physical health status and health practices. *Preventive Medicine*, 1(3), 409–421.
- Bentler, P.M. (1990). Comparative fit indexes in structural models. *Psychology Bulletin*, 107(2):238-46.
- Berkman, L.F., & Syme, A.S. (1979). Social networks, host resistance and mortality: a nine-year follow-up of Alameda county residents. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 109, 186-204.
- Berry, J. W., & Worthington, E. L., Jr. (2001). Forgivingness, relationship quality, stress while imagining relationship events, and physical and mental health. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 48(4), 447-455.
- Bianco, T. & Eklund, R. (2001). Conceptual considerations for social support research in sport and exercise settings: The case of sport injury. *Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, 23 (2), 85-107.

- Bibe, S.H. (2006). The mass marketing of disordered eating and eating disorders: The social psychology of women, thinness and culture. *Women's Studies International Forum, 29*, 208–224.
- Bhochhibhoya, A., Branscum, P., Taylor, L., & Hofford, C. (2014). Exploring the relationships of physical activity, emotional intelligence, and mental health among college students. *American Journal of Healh Studies*, 29(20), 17-25.
- Bhochhhiboya, A., & Branscum, P. (2015). Emotional intelligence; A place in public health promotion and education. *Pediatrics and Health*, *3*(2), 1-5.
- Biglan, A. (2004). Contextualism and the development of effective prevention practices. *Prevention Science*, *5*(1), 15-21.
- Bitz, A. L. (2011). Does being rural matter?: The roles of rurality, social support, and social self-efficacy in first-year college student adjustment. Public Access Theses and Dissertations from the College of Education and Human Sciences. 175. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/cehsdiss/175
- Black, T. R. (1999). Doing quantitative research in the social sciences: An integrated approach to research design, measurement and statistics. Atlanta, GA: Sage.
- Bobroff, L. (2015). *Healthstyle: A self-test.* U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Public Health Service, DHHS Publication Number (PHS) 81-50155.
- Bolarinwa, O.K. (2015). Principles and methods of validity and reliability testing of questionnaires used in social and health science researches. *Nigerian Postgraduate Medical Journal*, 22(4), 195-201.
- Boo, N.Y., Chia, G.J., Wong, L.C., Chew, R.M., Chong, W., & Loo., R.C.N. (2010). The prevalence of obesity among clinical students in a Malaysian medical school. *Singapore Medical Journal*, *51*(2), 126-132.
- Bouchard, C., Shephard, R.J., Stephens, T., Sutton, J., & McPherson, B. (Eds.). (1990). *Exercise, fitness, and health.* Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Bowler, K. & Yorke, M.H. (2014), Psycho tests: Analyze yourself (and your friends). London: Redstone Press.
- Boyatzis, R.E. (2001). How and why individuals are able to develop emotional intelligence. In C. Cherniss and D. coleman (eds.). *The emotionally intelligent workplace*. (pp.209-233). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Brackett, M.A., & Mayer, J.D. (2003). Convergent, discriminant, and incremental validity of competing measures of emotional intelligence. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 29(9), 1147-1158.
- Brandt, P., & Weinert, C. (1981). The PRQ: A social support measure. *Nursing Research*, 30(5), 277-280.
- Breaux-Shropshire, T.L. Brown, K.C., Pryor, E.R., & Maples, E.H. (2012). Relationship of blood pressure self-monitoring, medication adherence, self-efficacy, stage of

change, and blood pressure control among municipal workers with hypertension. *Workplace Health & Safety, 60*(7), 1-18.

- Brechting, E. H., Brown, T. L., Salsman, J. M., Sayer, S. E., Holeman, V. T., & Carlson, C. R. (2010). The role of religious beliefs and behaviours in predicting underage alcohol use. *Journal of Child and Adolescent Substance*, 19(4), 324 – 334.
- Brewer, H., Rodham, K., Mistral, W. & Stallard, P. (2006). Adolescent perception of risk and challenge. *Journal of Adolescence, 29*, 261-272.
- Brown, T.A. (2006). Confirmatory factor analysis for applied research. New York, NY: Guilford.
- Brown, S.D., Brady, T., Lent, R.W., Wolfert, J., & Hall, S. (1987). Social support inventory. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 34(3), 337-354.
- Brown, J. L., & Vanable, P. A. (2007). Alcohol use, partner type, and risky sexual behaviour among college students: Findings from an event-level study. *Addictive Behaviours*, 32(12), 2940-2952.
- Byrne, B. (2010). Structural equation modeling with Amos: Basic concepts, applications, and programming (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Burris, J.L., Smith, G.T., & Carlson, C.R. (2009). Relations among religiousness, spirituality, and sexual practices. *Journal of Sex Research*, 46(4), 282-289.
- Burkhart, P.V. & Rayens, M.K. (2005). Self-concept and health locus of control: factors related to children's adherence to recommended asthma regimen. *Pediatric Nursing*, *31*(5), 404-409.
- Carr, S.E. (2009). Emotional intelligence in medical students: does it correlate with selection measures? *Medical Education*, 43(11), 1069-1077.
- Charkhabi, M., Mortazavi, A., Alimohammadi, S., & Hayati, D. (2014). The effect of spiritual intelligence training on the indicators of mental health in Iranian students: An experimental study. *Procedia-Social and Behavioural Sciences*, 159, 355-358.
- Charkazi, A., Ozouni-Davaji, R.B., Bagheri, D. et al. (2016). Predicting oral health behaviour using the health promotion model among school students: A crosssectional survey. *International Journal of Pediatrics*, 4(29), 2069-2077.
- Charles, N. & Walters, V. (2008). Men are leavers alone and women are worriers: Gender differences in discourse of health. *Health, Risk and Society, 10*(2), 117-132.
- Cheung, G.W., & Lau, R.S. (2008). Testing mediation and suppression effects of latent variables: Bootstrapping with structural equation models. Organizational Research Methods, 11(2), 296-325.
- Cheung, G. W., & Rensvold, R. B. (2002). Evaluating goodness-of-fit indexes for testing measurement invariance. *Structural Equation Model*, *9*, 233–255.

- Chin, W.W. (1998). The Partial Least Squares Approach to Structural Equation Modeling. *Modern Methods for Business Research, 2*, 295-336.
- Chun J. (2015). Determinants of tobacco use among Korean female adolescents: Longitudinal test of the theory of triadic influence. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 50, 83–87.
- Ciarrochi, J., Chan, A.Y.C., & Bajgar, J. (2001). Measuring emotional intelligence in adolescents. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *31*, 1105-1119.
- Ciarrochi, J.V. & Deane, F.P. (2001). Emotional competence and willingness to seek help from professional and nonprofessional sources. *British Journal of Guidance and Counselling*, 29, 233-246.
- Clara, I., Cox, B., Enns, M., Murray, L. & Torgudc, C. (2003). Confirmation factor analysis of the multidimensional scale of perceived social support in clinically distressed and student samples. *Journal of Personality and Assessment*, 81, 265–270.
- Claros, E., & Sharma, M. (2012). The relationship between emotional intelligence and abuse of alcohol, marijuana, and tobacco among college students. *Journal of Alcohol and Drug Education*, *56*, 8-37.
- Cochran, W. G. (1977). *Sampling techniques* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioural sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, S., Janicki-Deverts, D. & Miller, G.E. (2007). Psychological stress and disease. Journal of the American Medical Association, 298, 1685-1687.
- Cohen, S., & Hoberman, H. M. (1983). Positive events and social supports as buffers of life change stress. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 13, 99-125.
- Cohen, S., Kamarck, T., & Mermelstein, R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour, 24*, 386-396.
- Cohen, S., Mermelstein, R., Kamarck, T., & Hoberman, H. (1985). Measuring the functional components of social support. In I.G. Sarason & B.R Sarason (Eds.) *Social support: Theory, research, and application.* The Hague, The Netherlands: Martinus Nijhoff.
- Cohen, S., Gottlieb, B.H., & Underwood, L.G. (2001). Social relationships and health: Challenges for measurement and intervention. *Advances in Mind Body Medicine*, 17(2), 129-141.
- Cohen, S. & Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychological Bulletin, 98*, 310-357.
- Colliver, J.A., Conlee, M.J., & Verhulst, S.J. (2012). From test validity to construct validity ... and back? Medical Education, *46*(4), 366-371.

- Cooper, A. & Petrides, K. V. (2010). A psychometric analysis of the Trait Emotional Intelligence Questionnaire-Short Form (TEIQue-SF) using item response theory. *Journal of Personality Assessment, 92,* 449-457.
- Conner, M., & Norman, P. (1996). *The role of social cognition in health behaviours*. London, UK: Open University Press.
- Costa, H., Ripoll, P., Sanhez, M., & Carvalho, C. (2013). Emotional intelligence and self-efficacy: effects on psychological well-being in college students. *The Spanish Journal of Psychology*, 16, 50-57.
- Cotton, S., Larkin, E., Hoopes, A., Cromer, B.A & Rosenthal, S.L. (2005). The impact of adolescent spirituality on depressive symptoms and health risk behaviours. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *36*(529), 7-14.
- Creswell, J.W. (2008). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative research. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson/Merrill Education.
- Creswell, J.W. (2009). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Cullum, L., O'Grady, M., Sandoval, P., Armeli, S., & Tennen, H. (2013). Ignoring norms with a little help from my friends: Social support reduces normative influence on drinking behaviour. *Journal of Social & Clinical Psychology*, 32(1), 17-33.
- Darker, C., French, D., Eves, F., & Snichotta, F. (2010). An intervention to promote walking amongst the general population based on an 'extended 'theory of planned behaviour: A waiting list randomized controlled trial. *Psychology and Health*, 25(1), 71-88.
- Davis, D.E., Worthington, E.L., Hook, J.N. & Hill, P.C. (2013). Research on religion/spirituality and forgiveness: A meta-analytic review. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 5, 233-241.
- Dawson, N.V. & Weiss, R. (2012). Dichotomizing continuous variables in statistical analysis: A practice to avoid. *Medical Decision Making*, 225-226.
- De Caroli, M.A, & Sagone, E. (2014). Generalized self-efficacy and well-being in adolescents with high vs. low scholastic self-efficacy. *Procedia of Social and Behavioural Sciences*, 141, 867-874.
- Decoster, J., Iselin, A.M.R. & Galucci, M. (2009). A conceptual and empirical examination of justifications for dichotomization. *Psychological Methods*, 14(4), 349-366.
- Deeks, A., Lombard, C., Michelmore, J., & Teede, H. (2009). The effects of gender and age on health related behaviours. *BMC Public Health*, 9(213), 1-8.

- Dennis, D. & Hicks, T. (2006). Health behaviour patterns among first-year and nonfirst year college students attending a North Carolina historically black university. *The Journal of College Orientation and Transition*, 13(2), 10-17.
- De Souza, L.A.S., Torres, A.R.R., Barbosa, G.A., De Lima, T.J.S., & De Souza, L.E.C. (2014). Self-efficacy as a mediator of the relationship between subjective wellbeing and general health of military cadets. *Cad. Saude Publica*, *30*(11), 2309-2319.
- DiClemente, R.J, Salazar, L.F., & Crosby, R.A. (2013) Health behaviour in the context of the "new" public health. *Health behaviour theory for public health: Principles, foundations, and applications.* (pp. 3-26). Burlington, MA: Jones and Bartlett Learning.
- DiClemente, R.J., Salazar, L.F. & Crosby, R.A. (2013). *Health behaviour theory for public health*. Burlington, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Diez, S.A.U., & Perez-Fortis, A. (2009). Socio-demographic predictors of health behaviours in Mexican college students. *Health Promotion International*, 25(1), 85–93,
- Digman, J. M. (1990). Personality structure: emergence of the five-factor model. *Annal Review of Psychology*, 41, 417–440.
- Dolan, A. (2017). Predictors and associations of physical activity in college students: Self-efficacy, self-regulation, social support and socioeconomic status (Doctoral dissertation, The University of Dublin, Ireland). Retrieved from http://esource.dbs.ie/bitstream/ handle/10788/3297 /ba\_dolan\_a\_ 2017.pdf?sequence=1
- Dolan, C.A. & Adler, A.B. (2006). Military hardiness as a buffer of psychological health on return from deployment. *Military Medicine*, 171(2), 93-98.
- Dulewicz & Higgs, M. (2000), Emotional intelligence: A review and evaluation study. Henley Management College, UK: Henley-on-Thames.
- Elliott, D. S., Huizinga, D., & Ageton, S. S. (1985). *Explaining delinquency and drug use*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.
- Emmons, R. A. (2000). Is spirituality an intelligence? Motivation, cognition and the psychology of ultimate concern. *The International Journal for the Psychology of Religion*, *10*(1), 3-26.
- Engel, R.J., & Schutt, R.K. (2005). *The practice of research in social work*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Ekpenyong, C.E., Daniel, N.E., & Aribo, E.O. (2013). Associations between academic stressors, reaction to stress, coping strategies and musculoskeletal disorders among college students. *European Journal of Health Sciences*, 23(2), 98-112.
- El Telbani, N. (2014). Emotional intelligence and leadership abilities amongst the students of the Faculty of Economics and Administrative Science (English

Language track) in Al Azhar University- Gaza. An - Najah Univ. Journal of Research (Humanities), 28(4), 941-992.

- Epton, T., Norman, P., Dadzie, A.-S., Harris, P. R., Webb, T. L., Sheeran, P. & Shah, I. (2014). A theory-based online health behaviour intervention for new university students: Results from a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Public Health*, *14*, 563-568.
- Farhat, T., Iannotti, R. J., & Simons-Morton, B. G. (2010). Overweight, obesity, youth, and health-risk behaviours. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 38(3), 258–267.
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A. & Lang, A.G. (2009) Statistical power analyses using G-power 3.1 tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behaviour Research Methods*, 41, 1149-1160.
- Fernández-Abascal, E. G., & Martín-Díaz, M. D. (2015). Dimensions of emotional intelligence related to physical and mental health and to health behaviours. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 6 (317). doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2015.00317
- Fernández-Berrocal, P. & Cabello, R. (2016). Commentary: Dimensions of emotional intelligence related to physical and mental health and to health behaviours. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7(441). doi:10.3389/fpsyg. 2016.00441
- Finch, W.H. (2012). Distribution of variables by method of outlier detection. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *3*(211), 1-2.
- Fink, A. (2014). Conducting research literature reviews: From the internet to paper (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). *Attitude, Intention and Behaviour: An Introduction to Theory and Research Reading*. Boston, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Flay, B. R. (2002). Positive youth development requires comprehensive health promotion programs. *American Journal of Health Behaviour*, 26(6), 407–424.
- Flay, B. R., & Petraitis, J. (1994). A new theory of health behaviour with implications for preventive interventions. *Advances in Medical Sociology*, *4*, 19–44.
- Flay, B.R. & Schure, M.B. (2012). Mechanisms of legal effect: Perspectives from social psychology. *PHLR Methods Monograph Series*, 1-36.
- Flay, B. R., Snyder, F., & Petraitis, J. (2009). The theory of triadic influence. *Emerging Theories in Health Promotion Practice and Research*, *2*, 451–510.
- Flueckiger, L., Lieb, R., Meyer, A.H., & Mata, J. (2014). How health behaviours relate to academic performance via affect: an intensive longitudinal study. *PLoS ONE*, 9(10), e111080. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone. 0111080.
- Folasayo, A.T., Oluwasegun, A.J., Suhailah, S., Siti Nor Sakinah, S., Malina, O., & Rukman, A. H. (2017). Assessing the knowledge level, attitudes, risky

behaviours, and preventive practices on sexually transmitted diseases among university students as future healthcare providers in the central zone of Malaysia: A cross-sectional study, *International Journal of Enronmental Research and Public Health*, 14, 159; doi:10.3390/ijerph14020159.

- Ford, K.H., Diamond, P.M., Kelder, S.H., Sterling, K.L., & McAlister, A.L. (2009). Validation of scales measuring attitudes, self-efficacy, and intention related to smoking among middle school students. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviour*, 23(2), 271-278.
- Fornell, C. & Larcker, D.F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 18(1), 39-50.
- Fox, M.C. (2011). Social support, health behaviours, and academic success in college students. Master's Thesis, East Carolina University. Retrieved from the Scholarship. http://hdl.handle.net/10342/3533.
- Fraenkel, J. R., Wallen, N.E., & Hyun, H.H. (2012). *How to design and evaluate research in education*. New York, NY: McGraw Hill.
- Frankenhaeuser, & Marianne. (1991). The psychophysiology of workload, stress, and health: Comparison between the sexes. *Annals of Behavioural Medicine*, 13(4), 197-204.
- Franklin, A.E., Gubrud-Howe, P., Sideras, S., & Lee, C.S. (2015). Effectiveness of simulation preparation on novice nurses' competence and self-efficacy in a multiple-patient simulation. *Nursing Education Perspective*, 36(5), 324-325.
- Friedman, H.S, & Booth-Kewley, S. (1987). Personality, type A behaviour, and coronary heart disease: the role of emotional expression. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *53*(4), 783-792.
- Fromme, K., Stroot, E. A., & Kaplan, D. (1993). Comprehensive effects of alcohol: Development and psychometric assessment of a new expectancy questionnaire. *Psychological Assessment*, 5(1), 19-26.
- Fry, L., Hannah, S., Noel, M., & Walumbwa, F. (2011). Impact of spiritual leadership on unit performance. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 22, 259 – 270.
- Fry, L., W. & Kriger, M. (2009). Toward a theory of being-centered leadership: Multiple levels of being as context for effective leadership. *Human Relations*, 62, 1667– 1696
- Fry, L.,W. & Nisiewicz, M. (2013). Maximizing the triple bottom line through spiritual leadership. Palo Alto, CA: Stanford University Press.
- Fry, L. W. & Wigglesworth, C.G. (2010). *Toward a theory of spiritual intelligence and spiritual leader development*. Unpublished manuscript, 1-31.

- Galanter, M., Dermatis, H., & Santucci, C. (2012). Young people in alcoholics anonymous: The role of spiritual orientation and AA member affiliation. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, *31*(2), 173-182.
- Garcia, A.W., & King, A.C. (1991). Predicting long-term adherence to aerobic exercise: a comparison of two models. *Journal of Sports & Exercise Psychology*, 13, 394-410.
- Gardner, H. (2004). Audiences for the theory of multiple intelligences. *Teachers College Record*, *106*, 212–220.
- Garson, G.D. (2012). *Structural equation modeling*. Ashebro, NC: Statistical Associates Publishing.
- Gerritsen, A.A. & Deville, W.L. (2009). Gender differences in health and health care utilization in various ethnic groups in the Netherlands: A cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health*, 9(109), 1-7. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-9-109.
- Gharetepeh, A., Safari, Y., Pashaei, T., Razaei, M., & Kajbaf, M.B. (2015). Emotional intelligence as a predictor of self-efficacy among students with different levels of academic achievement at Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences. *Journal of Advances in Medical Education & Professionalism*, 3(2), 50-55.
- Ghee, A.C., & Johnson, C.S. (2008). Emotional intelligence: a moderator of perceived alcohol peer norms and alcohol use. *Journal of Drug Education*, 38(1), 71-83.
- Gill, J. S. (2002). Reported levels of alcohol consumption and binge drinking within the UK undergraduate student population over the last 25 years. *Alcohol and Alcoholism*, 37(2), 109-120.
- Glanz, K., Rimer, B. K., & Lewis, F. M. (2002). Health behaviour and education. *Theory, research and practice*. San Francisco, CA: Wiley & Sons.
- Gochman, D. S. (1997). Personal and social determinants of health behaviour: An integration. *Handbook of Health Behaviour Research I: Personal and Social Determinants*, 381–400.
- Goleman, D. (1995). *Emotional intelligence: Why it can matter more than IQ*. New York, NY: Bantham Press.
- Goodwin, R., Cost, P. C. & Adonu, J. (2004). Social support and its consequences: Positive and decency values and their implications for support and selfesteem. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, 43, 1-10.
- Gordon-Larsen, P., Nelson, M.C. & Popkin, B.M. (2004). Longitudinal physical activity and sedentary behaviour trends: adolescence to adulthood. *American Journal* of Preventive Medicine, 28, 202-204.
- Gupta, G. (2012). Spiritual intelligence and emotional intelligence in relation to selfefficacy and self-regulation among college students. *International Journal of Social Sciences & Interdisciplinary Research*, 1(2), 60-69.

- Gupta, G., & Kumar, S. (2010). Mental health in relation to emotional intelligence and self-efficacy among college students. *Journal of the Indian Academy of Applied Psychology*, 36(1), 61-67.
- Habra, M.E., Linden, W., Anderson, J.C. & Weinberg, J. (2003). Type D personality is related to cardiovascular and neuroendocrine reactivity to acute distress. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 55, 235-245.
- Hair Jr., J.F., Black, W.C., Babin, B.J. & Anderson, R.E. (2010). *Multivariate data analysis: A global perspective* (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Hajializadeh, R., Mehrabifar, F., Taherifar, P., & Mortazavi, H. (2015). The relationship between spiritual intelligence and self efficacy of teachers in special schools in Kerman province. *Journal of Social Issues and Humanities*, 3(5), 2345 2633.
- Ham, L.S. & Hope, D.D (2003). College students and problematic drinking: A review of the literature. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 23, 719-759.
- Hanafi, R. (2010). Spiritual intelligence, emotional intelligence and auditor's performance. *Indonesian Journal of Accounting and Auditing* 14(1), 21-40.
- Harris, S.M. (2004). The effect of health value and ethnicity on the relationship between hardiness and health behaviours. *Journal of Personality*, 72, 379-411. Seyed Ahamad
- Hashemi, S.A., Kimiaie, A., Hashemizadeh, S.M., Shirpoor, A., & Delaviz, A. (2014). The relationship between emotional intelligence and self-efficacy and academic performance of students. *World Essays Journal*, 1(2), 65-70.
- Hatch, S.L & Dohrenwend, B.P. (2007). Distribution of traumatic and other stressful events by race/ethnicity, gender, ses and age: A review of the research. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 40, 313-332.
- Hatcher, L. (1994). A Step-by-step approach to using the SAS system for factor analysis and structural equation modeling. Cary, NC: SAS Institute, Inc.
- Hayden, J. (2014). *Introduction to health behaviour theory* (2nd ed.). Boston, MA: Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to mediation, moderation, and conditional process analysis: A regression-based approach. New York, NY: The Guilford Press.
- Heidari, M., Borujeni, M.B., Borujeni, M. G., & Shirvani, M. (2017). Relationship of lifestyle with academic achievement in nursing students. *Journal of Clinical Diagnostic Research*, 11(3), 1-3.
- Heller, J.R, & Sarmiento, A.L (2016) Health behaviours of culturally diverse inner-city community college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 64(8), 651– 663.

- Hertzog, M. (2008). Consideration in determining sample size for pilot study. *Research in Nursing & Health, 31*(2), 180-191.
- Hill, E.M., & Maggi, S. (2011). Emotional intelligence and smoking: Protective and risk factors among Canadian young adults. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 51(1), 45-50.
- Hingson, R.W, & Howland, J. (2002). Comprehensive community interventions to promote health: Implications for college-age drinking problems. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol Supplement*, 14, 226-240.
- Hirschi, T. (2004). Self-control and crime. In R. F. Baumeister & K. D. Vohs (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation: Research, theory, and applications* (pp. 537–552). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Ho, R. (2006). Handbook of univariate and multivariate data analysis and interpretation with SPSS. New York, NY: CRC Press.
- Holmes, T.A. & Rahe, R.H. (1967). The social readjustment rating scale. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 11, 213-218.
- Hopper, M.K, & Moninger, S.L. (2017) Tracking weight change, insulin resistance, stress, and aerobic fitness over 4 years of college. *Journal of American College Health*, 65(2), 81–93.
- Hosseini, M., Habibah E., Krauss, S.E., & Siti Aishah. (2010). A review study on spiritual intelligence, adolescence and spiritual intelligence, factors that may contribute to individual differences in spiritual intelligence and the related theories. *Journal of Social Sciences*, 6(3), 429-438.
- Hoyt, L.T., Chase-Lansdale, P.L., McDade, T.W., et al. (2012) Positive youth, healthy adults: Does positive well-being in adolescence predict better perceived health and fewer risky health behaviours in young adulthood? *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 50, 66–73.
- Hudd., S.S., Dumlao, J., Erdmann-Sager, D., Murray, D., Phan, E., Soukas, N., & Yokozuka, M. (2000). Stress at college: Effects on health habits, health status and self-esteem. *College Student Journal*, 1-7.
- Humphrey, J.H., Yow, D.A. & Bowden, W.W. (2000). *Stress in college athletics: Causes, consequences, coping.* Binghamton, NY: The Haworth Half-Court Press.
- Hung, Y. Y. K. 2010. Effects of perceived self-efficacy, social support and self adjustment to college on the health-behaviours of Chinese/Taiwanese international students. PhD diss., Kent State University College of Nursing.
- Huntsinger, E.T. & Luecken, L.J. (2004). Attachment relationship and health behaviour: The meditational role of self-esteem. *Psychology and Health*, 19(4), 515-526.

- Jacobs, I., Wollny, A., Sim, C.-W. & Horsch, A. (2016). Mindfulness facets, trait emotional intelligence, emotional distress, and multiple health behaviours: A serial two-mediator model. *Scandinavian Journal of Psychology*, 57, 207–214.
- Jamshidi, M.A., Moghadam, M.F., Ghorbani, S. & Farhoush, M. (2018). Self-efficacy and resilience as mediators in the relationship between spiritual intelligence and test anxiety among high school students in Qom. *Journal of Research on Religion and Health*, 4(1), 7-21.
- Jin, X. H., Jie, S. Y., & Zhu, S.H. (2017). Influence of social support on internet addiction for Chinese college students and the mediating mechanism. *World Applied Sciences Journal*, 35(2), 288-294.
- Johnston, L. (1991). Toward a theory of drug epidemics. In *Persuasive communication* and drug abuse prevention (pp. 93-132) edited by Donohew, L., Sypher, H.E. and Bukoski, W.J. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates.
- Kals, S.V. & Cobb, S. (1966). Health behaviour, illness behaviour and sick-role behaviour: Sick-role behaviour. Archives of Environmental Health, 12, 531-541.
- Kamran, A., Azadbakht, L., Sharifirad, G., Mahaki, B., & Mohebi, S. (2015). The relationship between blood pressure and the structures of Pender's health promotion model in rural hypertensive patients. *Journal of Education and Health Promotion*, 4(29), 1-8.
- Kaplan, H.B., Marlin, S.S. & Robbins, C. (1982). Application of a general theory of deviant behaviour: Self-derogation and adolescent drug use. *Journal of Health* and Social Behaviour, 23, 274-294.
- Karami, A. & Imani, M. N. (2014). The relation between spiritual intelligence and selfefficacy in high school teachers of district 18, Tehran, Iran. *Martinia*, 5(2), 100-106.
- Kardong-Edgren, S. & DeMeyer, J. (2013). Bandura's self-efficacy theory: Something is missing. *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, *9*, 327-328.
- Kenny, D.A., & Judd, C.M. (2014). Power anomalies in testing mediation. *Psychological Science*, 25(2), 334-339.
- Khosravi, M.M.A., & Nikmanesh, Z. (2014). Relationship of spiritual intelligence with resilience and perceived stress. *Iranian Journal of Psychiatry Behaviour Science*, 8(4), 52-56.
- Khramtsova, I., Sarrino, D.A., Gordeeva, T., & Williams K. (2007). Happiness, life satisfaction, and depression in college students: Relations with student behaviours and attitudes. *American Journal of Psychological Research*, 3(1), 8-16.
- Kimball, A. & Freysinger, V.J. (2003). Leisure, stress and coping: The sport participation of collegiate student athletes. *Leisure Sciences*, 25, 115-141.

- Kimberlin, C.L., & Winterstein, A.G. (2008). Validity and reliability of measurement instruments used in research. *American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy*, 65(23), 2276-2284.
- King, C.A., Wu, J. & Niranjan S. (2014). Social support, self-efficacy and depression of college students. *International Journal of Liberal Arts and Social Science*, 2(3), 51-64.
- King, D. B. (2008). Rethinking claims of spiritual intelligence: A definition, model, & measure. Unpublished master's thesis, Trent University, Peterborough, Ontario, Canada.
- King, D.B. & DeCicco, T.L. (2009). A viable model and self-report measure of spiritual intelligence. *The International Journal of Transpersonal Studies, 28*, 68-85.
- King, K.A., Vidourek, R.A., English, L., & Merianos, A.L. (2014). Vigorous physical activity among college students: Using the health belief model to assess involvement and social support. *Archives of Exercise in Health and Disease*, 4(2), 267-279.
- Kirk, B.A., Schutte, N.S., & Hine, D.W. (2007), Development and preliminary validation of an emotional self-efficacy scale. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 45(5), 432-436
- Kline, R.B. (2011). *Principles and practice of structural equation modeling* (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Khosrorad, R., Kouhbanani, S.S., & Mirmoosavi, S.J. (2015). Health promotion and emotional intelligence. *International Research Journal of Applied and Basic Sciences*, 9(3), 314-319.
- Kulis, S., Hodge, D. R., Ayers, S. L., Brown, E. F., & Marsiglia, F. F. (2012). Spirituality and Religion: Intertwined Protective Factors for substance use among urban American Indian youth. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 38(5), 444 – 449.
- Kun, B., & Demetrovics, Z. (2010). Emotional intelligence and addictions: A systematic review. Substance Use and Misuse, 45(7-8), 1131-1160.
- Lai, C.C.W., & Ma, C.M.S. (2016). The mediating role of social support in the relationship between psychological well-being and health-risk behaviours among Chinese university students. *Health Psychology Open*, 1-11.
- Laitinen, J., Ek, E. & Sovio, U. (2002). Stress related eating and drinking behaviour and body mass index and predictors of this behaviour. Preventive Medicine, 34, 29-39.
- Lana, A., Baizán, E.M., Faya-Ornia, G., & López, M.L. (2015). Emotional intelligence and health risk behaviours in nursing students. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 54(8), 464-467.

- Leith, K. P., & Baumeister, R. F. (1996). Why do bad moods increase self-defeating behaviour? Emotion, risk taking, and self-regulation. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 71, 1250-1267.
- Lelanger, A., Kraft, P., & Roysamb, E. (2000). Perceived self-efficacy in health behaviour research: Conceptualization, measurement and correlates. *Journal of Psychology and Health*, 15(1), 51-69.
- Lewin, K. (1936). *Principles of topological psychology*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Lewis, B.A., Williams, D.M., Martinson, B.C., Dunsiger, S., & Marcus, B.H. (2013). Healthy for life: A randomized trial examining physical activity outcomes and psychosocial mediators. *Annals of Behavioural Medicine*, 45, 203–212.
- Lewis, B.A., Williams, D.M., Farayah, A.L., & Marcus, B.H. (2013). Self-efficacy versus perceived enjoyment as predictors of physical activity behaviour. *Psychology & Health*, 31(4), 456–469.
- Li., G. S.F., Lu, F.J., & Wang, A. H. H. (2009). Exploring the relationships of physical activity, emotional intelligence and health in Taiwan college students. *Journal of Exercise Science and Fitness*, 7(1), 55-63.
- Liau, A.K., Liau, A.W.L., Teoh, G.B.S., & Liau, M.T.L. (2003). The case for emotional literacy: The influence of emotional intelligence on problem behaviours in Malaysian secondary school students. *Journal of Moral Education*, 32, 51-66.
- Liew, H., Noor Illiati, I., Raymond Yii, S., Siti Nadzrah, Y., & Moy, F. (2011). Health risk behaviour among undergraduates in a Malaysian public university: a crosssectional study. *Journal of Health and Translational Medicine*, 14(2), 1-8.
- Lowe, K., Escoffery, C., Mertens, A.C., & Berg, C.J. (2016). Distinct health behaviour and psychosocial profiles of young adult survivors of childhood cancers: a mixed methods study. *Journal of Cancer Survivor*, 10(4), 619–632.
- Lubben, J. E., & Gironda, M. W. (2003). Measuring social networks and assessing their benefits. In C. Phillipson, G. Allan, & D. Morgan (Eds.), *Social networks and social exclusion* (pp. 20–49). Hants, England: Ashgate.
- Luszczynska, A., Scholz, U., & Schwarzer, R. (2005). The general self-efficacy scale: multicultural validation studies. *The Journal of Psychology*, *139*(5), 439-457.
- MacGeorge, E.L., Lichtman, R.M., & Pressey, L.C. (2002). The evaluation of advice in supportive interactions: Facework and contextual factors. *Human Communication Research*, 28(3), 451-463.
- MacKinnon, D. P. (2008). *Introduction to Statistical Mediation Analysis*. Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- MacKinnon, D.P., Lockwood, C.M. & Williams, J. (2004). Confidence limits for the indirect effect: Distribution of the product and resampling methods. *Multivariate Behavioural Research*, *39*, 99-128.

- Madhumathi, C. & Suparna, D. (2017). Spiritual intelligence among secondary school students with respect to gender and management. *International Journal of Indian Psychology*, 4(4), 78-84.
- Maddux, J. E., & Rogers, R. W. (1983). Protection motivation and self-efficacy: A revised theory of fear appeals and attitude change. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, *19*(5), 469-479.
- Made, S., Gede, M. L., & Naras, R. K. (2014). The relationship of spiritual intelligence with self-efficacy in patients with chronic lung disease obstruction in Sanjiwani Gianyar General Hospital. *Maternity, Child and Critical, 1*(2), 190 - 195.
- Marquez, P.G.O., Martin, R.P. & Brackett, M.A. (2006). Relating emotional intelligence to social competence and academic achievement in high school students. *Psicothema*, 18, 118-123.
- Marra, J., McCarthy E., Lin, H., Ford, J.D., Rodis, E. & Frisman, L.K. (2009). Effects of social support and conflict on parenting among homeless mothers. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 79, 348-356.
- Martin, T.N. & Hafer, J.C. (2009). Models of emotional intelligence, spiritual intelligence, and performance: A test of Tischler, Biberman, and McKeage. *Journal of Management, Spirituality and Religion, 6*(3), 247-257.
- Martins, A., Ramalho, N. & Morin, E. (2010). A comprehensive meta-analysis of the relationship between emotional intelligence and health. *Personality and Individual Differences, 49*, 554-564. Doi:10.1016/j.paid.010.05.029.
- Masten, R., Tusak, M., Zalar, B. & Ziherl, S. (2009). Stress, coping and social support in three groups of university students. *Psychiatria Danubina*, 21(1), 41-48.
- Mayer, J. D., & Cobb, C. D. (2000). Educational policy on emotional intelligence: Does it make sense? *Educational Psychology Review*, *12*, 163-183.
- Mayer, J. D. & Salovey, P. (1997). What is emotional intelligence? In P. Salovey & D. Sluyter (Eds). *Emotional Development and Emotional Intelligence: Implications for Educators* (pp. 3-31). New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Mayer, J. D., Caruso, D. R., & Salovey, P. (2016). The Ability Model of Emotional Intelligence: Principles and Updates. *Emotion Review*, 8 (4), 290–300.
- Mayer, J. D., Caruso, D. R., & Salovey, P. (2008). Emotional intelligence and giftedness. *Roeper Review*, 131-137.
- Mayer, J. D., Perkins, D.M., Caruso, D. R., & Salovey, P. (2001).
- Mayer, J. D., Roberts, R., & Barsade, S. G. (2008). Human ability: Emotional intelligence. Annual Review of Psychology, 59, 507–536.
- Mayer, J. D., Salovey, P., & Caruso, D. R. (2004). Emotional intelligence: Theory, findings, and implications. *Psychological Inquiry*, 15, 197-215.

- Mayer, J.D., Salovey, P., Caruso, D.R., & Sitarenios, G. (2001). Emotional intelligence as a standard intelligence. *Emotion*, 1(3), 232-242.
- McCleskey, J. (2014). Emotional intelligence and leadership: A review of the progress, controversy, and criticism. *International Journal of Organizational Analysis*, 22 (1), 76-93.
- McKinlay, J.B. (1992). Health promotion through healthy public policy: A contribution of complementary research methods. *Canadian Journal of Public Health, 83*, 11-19.
- Mee, S. (2014). Self-efficacy: a mediator of smoking behaviour and depression among college students. *Pediatric Nursing*, 40(1), 9-15.
- Menagi, F.S., Harrell, Z.A.T. & June, L.N. (2008). Religiousness and college student alcohol use: Examining the role of social support. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 47(2), 217-226.
- Merianos, A. L, King, K. A., & Vidourek, R. A. (2012). Does perceived social support play a role in body image satisfaction among college students? *Journal of Behavioural Health*, 1(3), 178-184.
- Merz, E.L., Roesch, S.C, Malcarne, V.L, Penedo, F.J, Llabre, M.M., Weitzman, O.B., et al. (2014). Validation of interpersonal support evaluation list-12 (ISEL-12) scores among English- and Spanish-speaking Hispanics/Latinos from the HCHS/SOL Sociocultural Ancillary Study, *Psychology Assessment*, 26(2), 384-394.
- Meyer, B.B. & Fletcher, T.B. (2007). Emotional intelligence: A theoretical overview and implications for research and professional practice in sport psychology. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, 19(1), 1-15.
- Meyers, L. S., Gamst, G., & Guarino, A. J. (2006). *Applied Multivariate Research Design and Interpretation*. London, UK: Sage.
- Mikolajczak, M., Avalosse, H., Vancorenland, S., Verniest, R., Callens, M., Van Broeck, N., et al. (2015). A nationally representative study of emotional competence and health. *Emotion*, 15, 653. doi: 10.1037/emo0000034
- Ministry of Higher Education. (2015). *Malaysian Education Blueprint 2015-2025*. Rerieved from MOHE website: http://www.mohe.gov.mt/ transformasi.
- Ministry of Higher Education. (2007). National Higher Education Strategic Plan: Laying the foundation beyond 2020. Retrieved from MOHE website: http://www.mohe.gov.mt/transformasi.
- Mishra, M., & Gupta, S. (2014). A study of teacher efficacy of rural and urban secondary school teachers in relation to their spiritual intelligence. *International Journal of Research*, 1(8), 19-135.

- Mishra, M. & Gupta, S. (2013). A study of teacher efficacy of male and female school teachers in reference to their spiritual intelligence, *Golden Research Thoughts*, 2(9), 35-38.
- Mizutani, S., Ekuni, D., Furuta, M., Tomofuji, T., Irie, K., Azuma, T., & Morita, M. (2012). Effects of self-efficacy on oral health behaviours and gingival health in university students aged 18- or 19-years-old. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology*, 39(9), 844–849.
- Moallemi, S. (2014). Spiritual intelligence and high risk behaviours. *International Journal of High Risk Behaviour and Addiction*, 3(1), 1-3.
- Morgen, C.S., Bjork, C., Andersen, P.K., Mortensn, L.H., Nybo, L. & Andersen, A.M. (2008). Socioeconomic position and the risk of preterm birth: A study within the Danish national birth cohort. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *37*(5), 109-120.
- Mourão-Miranda, J., Hardoon, D. R., Hahn, T., Marquand, A. F., Williams, S. C. R., Shawe-Taylor, J., & Brammer, M. (2011). Patient classification as an outlier detection problem: An application of the one-class support vector machine. *Neuroimage*, 58, 793–804.
- Mouton, J. (2001). How to succeed in your master's & doctoral studies: A South African guide and resource book. Pretoria, South Africa: Van Schaik Publishers.
- Munro, S., Lewin, S., Swart, T., & Volmink, J. (2007). A review of health behaviour theories: how useful are these for developing interventions to promote longterm medication adherence for TB and HIV/AIDS? *BMC Public Health*, 7, 104-120.
- Muris, P. (2001). A brief questionnaire for measuring self-efficacy in youths. *Journal of Psychopathology and. Behavioural Assessment, 23*, 145-149.
- Murray, K.M., Ciarrocchi, J.W., & Murray-Swank, N.A. (2007). Spirituality, religiosity, shame and guilt as predictors of sexual attitudes and experiences. *Journal of Psychology and Theology*, *35*, 222–234.
- Nag, T. & Gosh, A. (2013). Cardiovascular disease risk factors in Asian Indian population: A systematic review. *Journal of Cardiovascular Disease Research*, 4(4), 222-228.
- Naidoo, J. & Wills, J. (2003). Health Promotion: Foundations for Practice (2nd ed.). London, UK: Balliere Tindall/ Royal College of Nursing. Shreas Suresh
- Narayanan, S.S. & Cheang, A. W.O. (2016). The influence of perceived social support and self-efficacy on resilience among first year Malaysian students. *Kajian Malaysia*, 34(2), 1–23.
- Nelms, L. W., Hutchins, E., Hutchins, D., & Pursley, R. (2007). Spirituality and the health of college students. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 46(2), 249 265.

- Nelson, D.B., & Low, G. R. (2011). *Emotional intelligence: achieving academic and career excellence in college and in life* (2nd ed.). London, UK: Pearson.
- Nelson, T.F. & Weshler, H. (2000). Alcohol and college athletes. *Medicine and Science in Sport and Exercise, 33,* 43-47.
- Nelson, M.C, Story, M, Larson, N.I., Neumark-Sztainer, D., & Lytle, L.A. (2008). Emerging adulthood and college-aged youth: An overlooked age for weightrelated behaviour change. *Obesity*, 16(10), 2205–2211.
- Newman, S., Steed, L. & Mulligan, K. (2004). Self-management interventions for chronic illness. *The Lancet*, 364, 1523-1537.
- Newton, F.B., Kim, E.H. & Newton, D.W. (2006). A program to establish healthy lifestyle behaviours with freshman students. *Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice*, 43(3), doi: 10.2202/1949-6605.1681
- Ng, D.M. & Jeffrey, R.W. (2003). Relationships between perceived stress and health behaviours in a sample of working adults. *Health Psychology*, 22(6), 638-642.
- Noar, S. M., Chabot, M., & Zimmerman, R. S. (2008). Applying health behaviour theory to multiple behaviour change: Considerations and approaches. *Preventive Medicine*, 46(3), 275–280.
- Nor Afiah, M.Z, Suriana, I., Abdul Hakim, M.S., Simmadorai, R., & Nor Shahida Akhma, M.N. (2014). Influence of eating behaviours and psychosocial factors on overweight and obesity among medical students in a public university in Malaysia. *International Journal of Public Health and Clinical Sciences*, 1(1), 151-59.
- Noori, S.S. (2016). The relationship between spiritual intelligence and emotional intelligence and self-efficacy in students of Islamic Azad University of Dezful. *Psychology and Religion*, 9(1), 107-1022.
- Noraini, I. (2010). Penyelidikan dalam pendidikan. Malaysia: McGraw Hill Education.
- Nur Aimi, M. (2010). Eating habits associated with obesity among undergraduates' students in UITM Puncak Alam campus. Shah Alam, SE: UITM press.
- O'Connor, E.M. (2001). Student mental health: Secondary education no more. *Monitor* on Psychology, 32, 44-47.
- Oetting, E. R., & Beauvais, F. (1986). Clarification of peer cluster theory-a response. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 65(1), 29–30.
- Offredy, M., & Vickers, P. (2010). *Developing a heathcare research proposal: An interactive student guide*. Oxford, UK: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Okun, M.A., Karoly, & Lutz, R. (2002). Clarifying the contribution of subjective norm to predicting leisure-time exercise. *American Journal of Health Behaviour*, *26*, 296–305.

- Pallant, J., (2010). SPSS survival manual: A step by step guide to data analysis using the SPSS program (4th ed.). New Yok, NY: McGraw Hill.
- Pant, N., & Srivastava, S.K. (2015). Spiritual intelligence, gender and educational background as related to the quality of life of college students. *Indian Journal* of Positive Psychology, 6(3), 208-214.
- Papanikolaou, Z., Nikolaidis, D., Patsiaouras, A. & Alexopoulos, P. (2003). The freshman experience: High stress-low grades. *Athletic insight: The On-line Journal of Sport Psychology*, 5(4), 1-4.
- Pauline, J.S. (2013). Physical activity behaviours, motivation, and self-efficacy among college students. *College Student Journal*, 47(1), 1-7.
- Pedhazur, E.J. (1982). *Multiple regression in behavioural research* (2nd ed.). Orlando, Florida: Suanders College Publishing.
- Peker, K. & Bermek, G. (2011). Predictors of health-promoting behaviours among freshman dental students at Istanbul university. *Journal of Dental Education*, 75, 413-420.
- Pellitier, J.E., Lytle, L.A., & Laska, M.N. (2015). Stress, health risk behaviours, and weight status among community college students. *Health Education and Behaviour*, 139-144.
- Pender, N.J., Murdaugh, C., & Parsons, M.A. (2011). *Health Promotion in Nursing Practice* (6th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson.
- Petraitis, J., Flay, B.R., & Miller, T.Q. (1995). Reviewing theories of adplescent substance use: Organizing pieces in the puzzle. *Psychological Bulletin*, 117(1), 67-86.
- Petrides, K.V., Frederickson, N., & Furnham, A. (2004). The role of trait emotional intelligence in academic performance and deviant behaviour at school. *Personality and Individual Differences, 36, 277-293.*
- Petrides, K.V., & Furnham, A. (2000). Gender differences in measured and selfestimated trait emotional intelligence. *Sex Roles*, 42, 449-461.
- Petrides, K. V., Pita, R., & Kokkinaki, F. (2007). The location of trait emotional intelligence in personality factor space. *British Journal of Psychology*, 98, 273-289.
- Piko, B.F. & Kovács, E. (2010). Do parents and school matter? Protective factors for adolescent substance use. *Addictive Behaviours*, 35, 53–56.
- Ping, R. Jr. (1996). Latent variable interaction and quadratic effect estimation: A twostep technique using structural equation analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 119(1), 166-175.

- Piqueras, J.A., Kuhne, W., Vera-Villarroel, P., Straten, A.V. & Cuijpers, P. (2011). Happiness and health behaviours in Chilean college students: A cross-sectional survey. *BMC Public Health*, 11(443), 1-10.
- Plotnikoff, R. C., Karunamuni, N., Spence, J. C., Storey, K., Forbes, L., Raine, K., & McCargar, L. (2009). Chronic disease–related lifestyle risk factors in a sample of Canadian adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 44(6), 606-609.
- Pritchard, M. E., Milligan, B., Elgin, J., Rush, P., & Shea, M. (2007). Comparisons of risky health behaviours between male and female college athletes and nonathletes. *Athletic Insight: The Online Journal of Sports Psychology*, 9(1), 67-78.
- Qiao, S., Li, X., & Stanton, B. (2014). Social support and HIV-related risk behaviours: A systematic review of the global literature. *AIDS Behaviour*, 18(2), 419–441.
- Quartiroli, A., & Maeda, H. (2016). The effects of a lifetime physical fitness course on college students' health behaviours. *International Journal of Exercise Science*, 9(2), 136-148.
- Quintiliani, L.M., Sattelmair, J., Sorensen, G. (2007). *The workplace as a setting for interventions to improve diet and promote physical activity*. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- Quintiliani, L., Allen, J., Marino, M., Kelly-Weeder, S. & Li, Y. (2010). Multiple health behaviour clusters among female college students. *Patient Education and Counseling*, 79, 134-137.
- Raoprasert, T., & Islam, S.M.N. (2010). Designing an efficient management system: Structural equation modeling of convergence factors. New York, NY: Springer, Hiedelberg.
- Ratelle, C.F., Simard, K., & Guay, F. (2013). University students' subjective well-being: The role of autonomy support from parents, friends, and the romantic partner. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 14, 893–910.
- Raykov, T., & Marcoulides, G. A. (2006). A first course in structural equation modeling (2nd ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Redhwan Ahmad Al-Naggar, Zaleha Mohd Isa & Ramli Musa. (2010). Prevalence and associated factors of sleeping pills use among students in a Malaysian university. *ASEAN Journal of Psychiatry*, 11(2), 1-9.
- Rickett, K.A., Ockiene, J.K., & Pbett, L. (2013). *The Handbook of health behaviour change* (4th ed.). New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company.
- Rivers, S.E., Brackett, M.A., Omori, M., Sickler, C., Bertoli, M.C. & Salovey, P. (2013). *Emotion skills as a protective factor for risky behaviours among college students*, 54(2), 172-183.

- Rivers, S. E., Reyna, V. F., & Mills, B. (2008). Risking taking under the influence: A fuzzy-trace theory of emotion in adolescence. *Developmental Review*, 28, 107-144.
- Roberts, K.C, & Danoff-Bur, S. (2010). Mindfulness and health behaviours: is paying attention good for you? *Journal of American College Health*, 59(3), 165–173.
- Roberts, R. D., Betancourt, A. C., Burrus, J., Holtzman, S., Libbrecht N., MacCann C., et al. (2013). Multimedia assessment of emotional abilities: Development and validation army research institute report series. Arlington, VA: ARI.
- Rodham, K., Brewer, H., Mistral, W., & Stallard, P. (2006). Adolescents' perception of risk and challenge: A qualitative study. *Journal of Adolescence*, 29(2), 261– 272. http://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2005.05.012
- Roehrle, B., & Strouse, J. (2008). Influence of social support on success of therapeutic interventions: A meta-analytic review. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research, Practice, Training, 45*(4), 464-476.
- Rostami, R., Shahmohammadi, K.H, Ghaedi, G.H, Besharat, M.A., Akbari, Z. S., & Nosratabadi, M. (2010). Relationship between emotional intelligence and self-efficacy with perceived social support at Tehran University, Ofoghedanesh. *The Horizon of Medical Sciences*, *16*(3), 46-54.
- Roxana, D.O.D., Tengku Fadilah, T.K., Soh, K.G., Ahmad Fauzi, M.A., & Ismi, A.I. (2017). Emotional intelligence on health behaviours among Malaysian university students in a Malaysian public university: The mediating role of selfefficacy. In A.B. Razali, A.F. Mohd Ayub & S. R. Shaharil (Eds), *Empowering Education Through Translational Research and Practices: Proceedings of the* 4th International Conference on Educational Research and Practice 2017 (pp. 507-513). Serdang: Faculty of Educational Studies, Universiti Putra Malaysia.
- Roxana, D.O.D, Ismi, A.I., Maria, S.A, & Soh, K.G. (2014). Emotional intelligence as an underlying psychological mechanism on physical activity among Malaysian adolescents. *Middle-East Journal of Scientific Research (Innovation Challenges in Multidisciplinary Research & Practice)*, 19, 166-171.
- Roxana Dev, O. D., Ismi Arif, I., Mohd Sofian, O.-F., Maria Chong, A., & Soh Kim, G. (2012). Emotional intelligence as a potential underlying mechanism for physical activity among Malaysian adults. *American Journal of Health Sciences (AJHS)*, 3(3), 211-222.
- Ryckman, R.M., Robbins, M.A., Thornton, B., & Cantrell, P. (1982). Development and validation of a Physical Self-Efficacy Scale. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 891-900.
- Sabbah, I., Sabbah, H., Khamis, R., Sabbah, S., & Droubi, N. (2013). Health related quality of life of university students in Lebanon: Lifestyles behaviours and socio-demographic predictors. *Health*, 5(7), 1–12.

- Saklofske, D., Austin, E., & Minski, P. (2003). Factor structure and validity of a trait emotional intelligence measure. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *34*(4), 707-721.
- Saklofske, D.H., Austin, E.J., Galloway, J. & Davidson, K. (2007). Individual difference correlates of health related behaviours: Preliminary evidence for links between emotional intelligence and coping. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 42, 491-501.
- Saksvig, B. I., Gittelsohn, J., Harris, S. B., Hanley, A. J. G., Valente, T. W., & Zinman, B. (2005). A pilot school-based healthy eating and physical activity intervention improves diet, food knowledge, and self-efficacy for native Canadian children. *The Journal of Nutrition*, 135(10), 2392–2398.
- Salami, S.O. (2010). Emotional intelligence, self-efficacy, psychological wellbeing and students' attitudes: implications for quality education. *European Journal of Educational Studies*, 2(3), 247-257.
- Salkind, N. J. (1997). *Exploring research* (3rd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Salovey, P. & Grewal, D. (2005). The science of emotional intelligence. *Current Directions in Psychological Sciences*, 14, 281-285.
- Salovey, P., Mayer, J.D., & Caruso, D. (2002). The positive psychology of emotional intelligence. *Handbook of positive psychology*. 159, 171-173.
- Salovey, P. & Mayer, J. D. (1990). Emotional intelligence. *Imagination, Cognition, and Personality*, *9*, 185-211.
- Sanchez, A., Norman, G. J., Sallis, J. F., Calfas, K. J., Cella, J., & Patrick, K. (2007). Patterns and correlates of physical activity and nutrition behaviours in adolescents. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 32(2), 124–130.
- Sangoseni, O., Hellman, M., & Hill, C. (2013). Development and validation of a questionnaire to assess the effect of online learning on behaviours, attitudes, and clinical practices of physical therapists in the United States regarding evidence-based clinical practice. *The Internet Journal of Allied Health Sciences and Practice*, 11(2), 1-12.
- Santrock, J. W. (2002). Life-span development (8th ed.). Boston, MA: McGraw Hill.
- Sarafino, E.P. (2005). *Health psychology: Biopsychosocial interactions* (5th ed.). New York, NY: Wiley.
- Sarason, I.G. & Sarason, B. R. (2009). Social support: Mapping the construct. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 26(1), 113-120.
- Sarason, I.G., Levine, H.M., Basham, R.B., et al. (1983). Assessing social support: The. Social Support Questionnaire. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 44, 127-139.

- Schumacker, R.E., & Lomax, R.G. (2010). A beginner's guide to structural equation modeling (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Schutte, N.S., Malouff, J.M., Hall, L.E., Haggerty, D.J., Cooper, J.T., Golden, C.J., & Dornheim, L. (1998). Development and validation of measure of emotional intelligence. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 25, 167-177.
- Schutte, N.S., Malouff, J.M., Thorsteinsson, E.B., Bhullar, N. & Rooke, S.E. (2007). A meta-analytic investigation of the relationship between emotional intelligence and health. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 25, 167-177.
- Schutte, N. S., Malouff, J. M., & Bhullar, N. (2009). The Assessing Emotions Scale. In C. Stough, D. H. Saklofske, & J. D. A. Parker (Eds.), Assessing emotional intelligence: Theory, research, and application (pp. 119-134). New York, NY: Springer.
- Scott, S.B., Jackson, B.R. & Bergeman, C.S. (2011). What contributes to perceived stress in later life? A recursive partitioning approach. *Psychology and Aging*, 26(4), 830-843.
- Scott, S. B., Jackson, B. R., & Bergeman, C. S. (2011). What contributes to perceived stress in later life? A recursive partitioning approach. *Psychology and Aging*, 26(4), 830–843. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0023180
- Schwarzer, R. (1993). *Measurement of perceived self-efficacy: Psychometric scales for* cross-cultural research. Berlin, Germany: University of Berlin.
- Schwarzer, R., & Jerusalem, M. (1995). Generalized Self-Efficacy scale. In J. Weinman,
  S. Wright, & M. Johnston (Eds), *Measures in health psychology: A user's portfolio. Causal and control beliefs* (pp. 35-37). Windsor, UK: Nfer-Nelson.
- Schwarzer, R., Mueller, J., & Greenglass, E. (1999). Assessment of perceived general self-efficacy on the internet: Data collection in cyberspace. Anxiety, Stress & Coping: An International Journal, 145-161.
- Schwarzer, R. & Schulz, U. (2003). Social support in coping with illness: The Berlin Social Support Scales. (BSSS). *Diagnostica, 49*, 73-82.
- Schwarzer, R., & Warner, L. M. (2013). Perceived self-efficacy and its relationship to resilience. In S. Prince-Embury & D. H. Saklofske (Eds.), *The Springer series* on human exceptionality: Resilience in children, adolescents, and adults: *Translating research into practice* (pp. 139-150). doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-4939-3 10
- Segars, A. & Grover, V. (1993). Re-examining perceived ease of use and usefulness a confirmatory factor analysis. *MIS Quarterly*, *17*, 517-525.
- Sekaran, U., & Bougie, R. (2010). Research methods for business: A skill building approach (5th ed.). West Sussex, UK: John Wiley & Sons Ltd.

- Semmer, N. K., Elfering, A., Jacobshagen, N., Perrot, T., Beehr, T. A., & Boos, N. (2008). The emotional meaning of instrumental social support. *International Journal of Stress Management*, 15(3), 235-251.
- Serrat, O. (2017). Understanding and developing emotional intelligence. *Knowledge Solutions*, 329-339.
- Seyle, H. (1956). The stress of life. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Shabani, J., Hassan, S. A., Ahmad, A., & Baba, M. (2010). Age as moderated influence on the link of spiritual and emotional intelligence with mental health in high school students. *Journal of American Science*, *6*(11), 394-400.
- Sherbourne, C. D., & Stewart, A. L. (1991). The MOS Social Support Survey. Social Science & Medicine, 32, 705-714.
- Shin, Y.H., & Kang, S.J. (2014). Health behaviours and related demographic factors among Korean adolescents. *Asian Nursing Research*, *8*, 150-157.
- Sinha. R., & Jastreboff, A.M. (2013). Stress as a common risk factor for obesity and addiction. *Biological Psychiatry*, 73(9), 827–835.
- Smith, D.R. & Leggat, P.A. (2007). An international review of tobacco smoking among medical students. *Journal of Postgraduate Medicine*, *53*(1), 55-62.
- Smith, L., Webber, R., & DeFrain, J. (2013). Spiritual well-being and its relationship to resilience in young people: A mixed methods case study. SAGE Open, 1-16. doi: 10.1177/2158244013485582
- Snyder, F.J., & Flay, B.R. (2012). *Brief introduction to the Theory of Triadic Influence*. Unpublished documents, 1-9.
- So, E.S. & Park, B.M. (2016). Health behaviours and academic performance among Korean adolescents. *Asian Nursing Research*, 10, 123-127.
- Sodhi, R. (2016). Emotional intelligence and spirituality: A review. *The International Journal of Indian Psychology*, 4(1), 71-86.
- Solberg, L. I., Asche, S. E., Boyle, R., McCarty, M. C., & Thoele, M. J. (2007). Smoking and cessation behaviours among young adults of various educational backgrounds. *American Journal of Public Health*, *97*(8), 1421–1426.
- Spring, B., King, A. C., Pagoto, S. L., Van Horn, L., & Fisher, J. D. (2015). Fostering multiple healthy lifestyle behaviours for primary prevention of cancer. *American Psychologist*, 70(2), 75–90. http://doi.org/10.1037/a0038806
- Steptoe, A., Wardle, J., Vinck, J., Tuomisto, M., Holte, A. & Wichstrom, L. (1994). Personality and attitudinal correlates of healthy and unhealthy lifestyles in young adults. *Psychology and Health*, 9, 331-343.
- Steptoe, A. & Wardle, J. (1996). Health and behaviour survey. Available at http://www.ucl.ac.uk/psychobiology/studies/HBS.html

- Stotland, S., Zuroff, D.C., & Roy, M. (1991). Situational dieting self-efficacy and shortterm regulation of eating. *Appetite*, 17, 81-90.
- Sutton, S., Baum, A., & Johnston, M. (2002). The SAGE handbook of health psychology.\_Londo, UK: Sage Publications.
- Sygit-Kowalkowska, E., Sygit, K., & Sygit, M. (2015). Emotional intelligence vs. health behaviour in selected groups in late adulthood. *Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine 2015*, 22(2), 338–343.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2013). *Using multivariate statistics* (6th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson/Allyn & Bacon.
- Tanton, J., Dodd, L. J., Woodfield, L., & Mabhala, M. (2015). Eating behaviours of British university students: A cluster analysis on a neglected issue. Advances in Preventive Medicine, 2015, 1–8.
- Tehrani, F. J., & Nikpour, S. (2014). Effect of health on knowledge, self-efficacy and health behaviours of women with urinary tract infection. *International Journal of Urological Nursing*, 8(1), 3–14.
- Tennant, C. (2000). Work stress an coronary heart disease. *Journal of Cardiovascular Risk, 7,* 273-276.
- Thoits, P.A. (2010). Stress and health: Major findings and policy implications. *Journal* of Health and Social Behaviour, 51, 41-53. doi: 10.1177/0022146510383499
- Tokuda, Y., Takahashi, O. Ohde, S., Hiromitsu, O., Yanai, H., Shimbo, T., Fukuhara, S., et el. (2007). Health locus of control and use of conventional and alternative care: A cohort study. *British Journal of General Practice*, *57*, 643-649.
- Torres, J.B. & Solberg, V.S. (2001). Role of self-efficacy, stress, social integration, and family support in Latino college student persistence and health. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 59(1), 53-63.
- Tran, D.T, Zimmerman, L.M, & Kupzyk, K.A. (2017) Cardiovascular risk factors among college students: Knowledge, perception, and risk assessment. *Journal of American College Healt*, 65(3), 158–167.
- Travis, J. & Ryan, R. (1988). *Wellness workbook* (2nd ed.). Berkley, CA: Ten Speed Press.
- Trento, M., Tomelini, M., Basile, M., Borgo, E., Passera, P., Miselli, V., et al. (2008). The locus of control in patients with Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes managed by individual and group care. *Diabetic Medicine*, 25, 86-90.
- Trost, S.G., Sallis, J.F., Pate, R.R., et al. (2003) Evaluating a model of parental influence on youth physical activity. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 25, 277– 282.

- Trinidad, D.R. & Johnson, C.A. (2002). The association between emotional intelligence and early adolescent tobacco and alcohol use. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 32(1), 95-105.
- Trockel, M. T., Barnes, M. D., & Egget, D. L. (2000). Health-related variables and academic performance among first-year college students: implications for sleep and other behaviours. *Journal of American College Health*, 49(3), 125–131.
- Tsaousis, I., & Nikolaou, I. (2005). Exploring the relationship of emotional intelligence with physical and psychological health functioning. *Stress and Health*, 21(2), 77–86.
- Uchino, B.N. (2006). Social support and health: A review of physiological processes potentially underlying links to disease outcomes. *Journal of Behavioural Medicine*, 29(4), 377-387.
- Umberson, D. & Montez, J.K. (2010). Social relationships and health: A flashpoint for health policy. *Journal of Health and Social Behaviour, 52*, 54-66.
- Vaglio, J. Jr, Conard, M.C., Poston, W.S., O'Keefe, J., Haddock, C.K., House, J., et.al. (2004). Testing the performance of the ENRICHD social support instrument in cardiac patients. *Health Quality Life Outcomes*, 2(24), 1-5.
- Valois, R. F., Zullig, K. J., & Hunter, A. A. (2014). Association between adolescent suicide ideation, suicide attempts, and emotional self-efficacy. *Journal of Child* and Family Studies, 24, 1–12.
- Van de Putte, E.M., Engelbert, R., Kuis, W., Sinnema, G., Kimpen, J. & Uiterwaal, C. (2005). Chronic fatigue syndrome and health control in adolescents and parents. *Archives of Disease in Childhood, 90*, 1020-1024.
- Van Rooy, D. L., & Viswesvaran, C. (2004). Emotional intelligence: A meta-analytic investigation of predictive validity and homological net. *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*, 65(1), 71–95. http://doi.org/10.1016/S0001-8791(03)00076-9.
- Vaughan, F. (2002). What is Spiritual Intelligence? *Journal of Humanistic Psychology*, 42(2), 16-33.
- Veselska, Z., Madarasova, G.A., Reijneveld, S.A., & Van Dijk, J.P. (2011). Socioeconomic status and physical activity among adolescents: the mediating role of self-efficacy. *Public Health*, *125*(11), 763-768.
- Vickers, R., Conway, T.L., & Hervig, L.K. (1990). Demonstration of replicable dimensions of health behaviour. *Preventative Medicine*, *19*, 377-401.
- Victoroff, K.Z., & Boyatzis, R.E. (2013). What is the relationship between emotional intelligence and dental student clinical performance? *Journal of Dental Education*, 77(4), 416-426.
- Visser, P. L., & Hirsch, J. K. (2014). Health behaviours among college students: the influence of future time perspective and basic psychological need satisfaction. *Health Psychology and Behavioural Medicine*, 2(1), 88-99.

- Von Ah, D., Ebert, S., Ngamvitroj, A., Park, N. & Kang, D.H. (2004). Issues and innovations in nursing practice: Predictors of health behaviours in college students. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 48(5), 463-474.
- Walker, S. N., Sechrist, K. R., & Pender, N. J. (1987). The Health-Promoting Lifestyle Profile: development and psychometric characteristics. *Nursing Research*, *36*(2), 76-81.
- Walsh, R. (2000). Essential spirituality: The 7 Central Practices. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Walsh, S.D., Harel-Fisch, Y. & Fogel-Grinvald, H. (2010). Parents, teachers and peer relations as predictors of risk behaviours and mental well-being among immigrant and Israeli born adolescents. *Social Science & Medicine*, 70, 976– 984.
- Walsh-Partillo, J.G. (2011). *The role of emotional intelligence in college students' success.* (Doctoral Dissertation). FIU Electronic Theses and Dissertations. Retrieved from http://digitalcommons.fiu.edu/etd/491.
- Wang, D., Xing, X. H., & Wu, X. B. (2013). Healthy lifestyles of university students in China and influential factors. *The Scientific World Journal*, 1-10.
- Wang, E.S.T. & Wang, M.C.H. (2013). Social support and social interaction ties on internet addiction: Integrating online and offline contexts. *Cyber psychology*, *Behaviour and Social Networking*, 16(11), 843-849.
- Waterworth, P., Pescud, M., Braham, R., Dimmock, J., & Rosenberg, M. (2015). Factors influencing the health behaviour of indigenous Australians: perspectives from support people. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(11): e0142323. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0142323.
- Wechsler, H., Lee, J.E, Kuo, M., Seibring, M., Nelson, T.F, & , Lee, H. (2002). Trends in college binge drinking during a period of increased prevention efforts: Findings from four Harvard School of Public Health study surveys, 1993-2001. *Journal of American College Health* 50(5), 203-217.
- Werts, C.E., Linn, R.L., & Joreskog, L.G. (1974). Interclass reliability estimates: Testing structural assumptions. *Educational and Psychological Measurements*, 34(1), 25-33.
- White, M.A., Mayer, M., Vanderlind, M.W., & Allswede, D. (2017): Evaluation of a behavioural self-care intervention for public health students. *American Journal of Health Education*, 1-8. doi: 10.1080/19325037.2017.1369199
- Whitman, D.S., Van Rooy, D.L., Viswesvaran, C., & Alonso, A. (2008). The susceptibility of a mixed model measure of emotional intelligence to faking: A Solomon four-group design. *Psychology Science Quarterly*, *50*(1), 44-63.
- Whitney, C. (2010). Social supports among college students and measures of alcohol use, perceived stress, satisfaction with life, emotional intelligence and coping. *Journal of Student Wellbeing*, *4*(1), 49–67.

- Wigglesworth, C. (2014). Deep intelligence: The critical intelligences for leadership success in the 21st century. *Deep Change*, 1-8.
- Williams, B.W., Kessler, H.A., & Williams, M.V. (2014). Relationship among practice change, motivation, and self-efficacy. *Journal of Continuing Education in Health Professions*, 34(1), 1-5.
- Williams, L., O'Caroll, RE. & O' Connor, R.C. (2009). Type D personality and cardiac output in response to stress. *Psychology and Health*, 24(5), 489-500.
- Williams, L., O'Connor, R.C., Howard, S., Hughes, B.M., Johnston, D.W., Hay, J.L., & O Caroll, R.E. (2008). Type-D personality mechanisms of effect: the role of health-related behaviour and social support. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 64(1), 63-69.
- Wills, T.A, Year, M.A, & Sandy, J. (2003). Buffering effects of religiosity for adolescent substance use. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviours*, *17*(1), 24-31.
- Wilson, G. & Pritchard, M. (2005). Comparing sources of stress in college students athletes and non-athletes. *Athletic Insight*, 71, 1-7.
- Wong, F.V. (2011). The association between emotional intelligence, body mass index and eating behaviours among college students. (Master's thesis): University of Kentucky Libraries. Retrieved from http://uknowledge.uky.edu/gradschool\_ theses /14
- World Health Organization. (2014). World health statistics. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press.
- Zhang, K. C., Hui, C. H., Lam, J., Lau, E. Y. Y., Cheung, S. F., & Mok, D. S. Y. (2014). Personal spiritual values and quality of life: Evidence from Chinese college students. *Journal of Religion and Health*, 53(4), 986-1002.
- Zijlstra, W. P., Van der Ark, L. A., & Sijtsmal, K. (2011). Outliers in questionnaire data: Can they be detected and should they be removed? *Journal of Educational Behaviour and Statistics*, *36*, 186–212.
- Zimet, G.D., Dahlem, N.W., Zimet, S.G., & Farley, G.K. (1988). The multidimensional scale of perceived social support. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, 52(1), 30-41.
- Zohar, D. & Marshall, I. (2000). *Spiritual Intelligence: The Ultimate Intelligence*. New York, NY: Bloomsbury.
- Zuckerman, M., Ball, S., & Black, J. (1990). Influences of sensation seeking, gender, risk appraisal, and situational motivation on smoking. *Addictive Behaviours*, 15(3), 209–220.